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Foreword

The trial of the 22 major Nazi war criminals at Nuremberg lasted for ten months from November 1945 to September 1946. The Nuremberg Trial was first published in 1983. Since then, no new evidence has emerged to cast serious doubt on the verdicts of the judges or to change the views of the authors.

Our opinions and those of the judges were based on documents. The book relies heavily on the 22 published volumes of the transcript of the proceedings, the verbatim record of everything said and read out at the trial. The court hearings and final judgement were mainly based on Nazi records; those read in evidence and another published twenty or so volumes of documents submitted for further consideration. Virtually all of these documents were written or at least signed by the defendants themselves. They remain incontrovertible proof of crime. Any new evidence which has been produced since 1946 (such as the Wannsee Protocol, setting out the decision to exterminate the Jews) has only hardened the case—if it was needed—against the Nazi regime.

From the day the intention of setting up a tribunal at Nuremberg was announced, some have carped at the justice of holding proceedings at all. People still sneer “victors’ justice”—without knowing—or caring—that they are quoting the view of the chief defendant, Hermann Goering. The judges were, indeed, appointed by the four major powers who had defeated Nazi Germany in the Second World War. But this was no “show” trial: nine months of evidence was heard in court; much more time was given to the defence case than to that of the prosecutors; three of the 22 accused were acquitted, only twelve were hanged.

Other questions were raised about whether the right men were in the dock, whether other egregious criminals should have been there side by side. Well, better known Nazis such as Adolf Hitler and Heinrich Himmler had already taken their own lives, or had taken the boat to South America. No one can plausibly argue that no alleged murderer should be tried unless or until all likely murderers have been arrested. There were complaints, too, that high Nazi leaders sat in the dock with comparatively lowly placemen or mere regime dogsbodies. Yet the verdicts showed that the judges were well aware of the ranges of guilt facing them – rather, it could have been claimed that the lesser defendants received lighter sentences than they deserved because their crimes were so completely overshadowed by those of their superiors sitting by their sides.

There are other more serious matters to debate. Did an international court have the right to examine a state’s treatment of its own citizens, however vile? The judges dodged a decision and instead rested their verdicts on crimes committed by Nazi forces in occupied territories. Was the charge of aggressive war based on retrospective law, even newly-minted for the occasion? Was the charge of conspiracy acceptable in international law or was it an American import and convenient “catch-all”? The members of the Tribunal were aware of these pitfalls and were duly nervous of acting without precedent. They stated that aggressive war had been long outlawed by international treaty; they listened carefully to the prosecution case on conspiracy by the Nazi regime. But their sentences were based on the age-old crime of murder; their verdicts were based on what one prosecution counsel called the defendants’ “nearness to the corpses”.

Whatever the legal arguments, many of the Tribunal’s decisions on the law were adopted by the United Nations and absorbed into international criminal law. But has the Tribunal’s impact been as great as was hoped? Aggressive war was denounced yet it continues; genocide seems endemic;, kidnapping was condemned—but has been re-named “extraordinary rendition;” torture has re-emerged as “enhanced interrogation;” civilians continue to be the victims of battle but are explained away as “collateral damage.” The demands for justice, punishment, collective judicial action and legal restraints remain powerful but often go unheard.

And the proponents of trial in 1945 certainly had ambitious dreams. They laid down a corpus of international criminal law and hoped for a permanent international court of criminal justice. Instead of a jurisdiction over all nations, we hear individual states calling for others to be punished but declining to back a court before which they themselves risk appearing, some of the loudest refusals coming from states which actually created the Nuremberg Tribunal. Ad hoc courts hear cases against camp guards, ethnic cleansers but no state willingly offers its own leaders to such scrutiny. Present behaviours offer few grounds for optimism about the creation of a universal criminal jurisdiction.

In part, this is because the practical lessons of Nuremberg’s success have not been understood or put into practice. Subsequent courts have forgotten that justice should be speedy; it took the Tribunal just 9 months to hear cases against 22 defendants and to review the evidence of twelve years of Nazi criminal activity across the continent of Europe. Long trials lose public concentration, yet trials must be held in the public interest. The Nuremberg judges also understood that they would lose respect for the judicial process if they allowed proceedings to lapse into chaos. Discipline in the Nuremberg courtroom was strict; no repetition of any point already made by defence or prosecution; no piling up of redundant evidence; no rambling tirades; no emotional outbursts, neurotic self-exculpation or the microphones would be switched off. These lessons are still there to be learned and to be put into practice.

The trial was heavily document based. Eye witnesses played a part—some spoke in support of the defendants, others expressed the outrage and grief of those who had suffered Nazi cruelty. All spoke with events fresh in their minds, unlike some current instances of arraigned perpetrators of decades old crimes. But ultimately, the Nazi regime was judged—and largely found guilty—on the basis of its own obsessively well kept records. It is doubtful if such overwhelming evidence will ever again be assembled in the years of the email and the shredder.

These questions, doubts, problems do not mean that Nuremberg did not deliver justice or that international criminal courts can never succeed—scrupulous consideration of them is the requirement. Humanity’s most profound hopes and aspirations were thoroughly and painstakingly played out in the courtroom at Nuremberg between 1945 and 1946. They explain why the Nuremberg Tribunal is constantly invoked, continues to fascinate and inspire and remains of current applicability. They are driven by the eternal hope of justice. The Nuremberg Trial keeps that hope alive.

—ANN TUSA AND JOHN TUSA, 2010


Chapter One

Monday, 30 September 1946 was a bright and sunny but cool day in Nuremberg. At first light, armoured cars carrying steel-helmeted American military policemen slid into position round the Palace of Justice. It was a drab, dark pink sandstone building about a kilometre outside the old town; it was pockmarked with bullets and shell holes. The armoured cars were its inner ring of defence. The whole city was in fact surrounded by US Army vehicles; every road into it was barricaded, every form of transport and every pedestrian trying to enter was being stopped and searched.

By seven o’clock in the morning crowds were arriving at the entrance to the courtroom of the Palace. Some of the visitors wore uniform and were high-ranking officers; many of the civilians were distinguished, their faces familiar from newsreels and newspaper photographs. Even so, they were stopped outside the building and scrutinized by MPs and US Intelligence officers. They were asked to present passes; if the passes were out of date, their bearers were turned away. Today, everyone entering the courtroom had to have a special pass. Even inside the building the security checks continued – passes had to be shown again, women who had ignored the ban on handbags were sent to deposit them in a guarded cloakroom.

By eight o’clock the corridors were jammed. In one room a group of about three dozen men was assembling. They wore a variety of academic gowns, nearly all black, one bright purple. They were German lawyers. At nine o’clock security officers came and checked their passes, gave them a body search and rifled through their files of papers. Then at nine thirty the doors of the courtroom were opened. In flooded spectators who went upstairs to their gallery, journalists who moved to seats at the back of the room, defence and prosecution counsel who made their way to tables in the well of the court. The room was dazzlingly bright. Banks of lights had been turned on while newsreel cameras whirred and press photographers darted around spotting eminent faces for their shots. After a few minutes of chatter and bustle, the courtroom fell silent. All eyes turned to a panel in the wall which had slid to one side. Through it, at intervals of a few seconds, came groups of men in twos and threes whose names and faces had been famous for years, escorted by American guards in immaculate white helmets and webbing. These men were defendants in a trial which had begun ten months before. Today their judges would deliver the judgement of the International Military Tribunal at Nuremberg. (1)

The prisoners took their seats on a double row of benches in the defendants’ dock. The photographers swarmed round them. Smiling, and greeting the audience, was Field Marshal Hermann Goering, once Commander-in-Chief of the German Luftwaffe and Lord High Nearly Everything Else. At one time Hitler had named Goering as his eventual successor as ruler of the Third Reich. There were other former military commanders in the dock too: Grand Admirals Doenitz and Raeder, Field Marshal Keitel, who had been the Chief of the High Command of the Armed Forces, and General Jodl, his Chief of the Operations Staff. There were diplomats and politicians: Constantin von Neurath, Franz von Papen, Ribbentrop, who had been Hitler’s Foreign Minister, Frick, once his Minister of the Interior, Sauckel, who had been responsible for Labour Mobilization, and Speer, Hitler’s architect and his Minister for Armaments and War Production. In the front row, next to Goering, sat Rudolf Hess, once the Deputy Leader of the Nazi Party. He seemed to have a headache and kept striking his forehead with his right hand. Further along the row sat Alfred Rosenberg, the Nazi party’s ideologist; Streicher its publicist, who had called for the extermination of the Jews; and Kaltenbrunner who had controlled the Gestapo and the concentration camp system through which the extermination was to be carried out. Sitting with them were two financial experts – Walther Funk and Hjalmar Schacht, both of whom had been Minister of Economics and President of the Reichsbank. There were two men who had administered countries conquered by Germany – Arthur Seyss-Inquart, the Reich Commissioner of the Netherlands and Hans Frank, the Governor-General of Poland. Towards one end of the back row, Baldur von Schirach, the leader and educator of German Youth, had taken his place.

Stuck at the farthest corner of the back row was the lowliest of the defendants, the man least known to the general public – Hans Fritzsche, a journalist and broadcaster. Even after so many months of the trial most people wondered why he was here. But there was no doubt about why the rest of them were in the dock. They were the surviving leaders of the former Nazi Reich and for the last ten months they had been on trial for the crimes that regime was alleged to have committed in Germany and all over Europe.

Their judges, whose findings and sentences were now about to be delivered, constituted an International Military Tribunal – ‘international’ because there was now no German state and the victorious Allies in the war had decided to establish this tribunal to try Germany’s former leaders; ‘military’ because there was no civil authority in Germany. The country was run by the occupying forces of the four major Powers who had defeated it. They had appointed eight judges – American, British, Russian and French. They could mount this trial of Germany’s former leaders because they had insisted on, and since May 1945 acquired, total power over Germany. After the defeat of her armed forces Germany had not been allowed to negotiate terms with her invaders. The Allies recalled the myth after the First World War that the German Army had been stabbed in the back by politicians and deprived of victory; they remembered the interminable negotiations at Versailles and the failure of the Treaty they produced to prevent renewed German aggression. They had abhorred the savagery of the Second World War and the appalling atrocities which had besmirched it. This time, they had said, Germany’s enemies will not treat. President Roosevelt had been the first Allied leader to call for ‘unconditional surrender’ at Casablanca in 1943; the other three major Powers had affirmed the demand at Yalta. In the First World War, it was felt, the German population had escaped unscathed by experience of the realities of war; this time the lessons of aggression had been brought home to them, literally. They were bombed by the Allies and invaded; their state had collapsed, their armies had been defeated. By May 1945 no German institutions survived. Germany was completely taken over by the Allies and lay at the mercy of her enemies.

In May 1945 Jodl had to sign a document of unconditional surrender. With his signature German sovereignty passed to the Allied forces. As he wrote his name, Jodl said: ‘With this signature the German people and the German Armed Forces are, for better or worse, delivered into the hands of the victors … In this hour I can only express the hope that the victors will treat them with generosity.’ That was a lot to ask. Thanks to the War, the cities of Europe were in ruins. No one yet knew how many had died in the bombing and the fighting, but they could see around them the millions of maimed, orphaned, homeless and starving. As the Allied forces advanced they encountered hordes of foreign slave workers who had been held captive in German labour camps; they had opened the gates of concentration camps, seen the gas chambers and ovens, looked in horror at the huddled masses of skeletal inmates clad in lice-infested rags and riddled with typhus. The Nazis had once disposed of the bodies of those they murdered in the camps. As their government collapsed so too did the organization for disposing of its victims; Allied bulldozers now had to shovel mounds of corpses into mass graves. After fighting a war for five years and seeing the results of Nazi rule in Europe, few people felt generosity towards the Germans. Surely, they said, they have caused all this, their leaders especially. They should pay for it, suffer as they have made others suffer. In May 1945 an instinct for revenge and punishment was stronger than that of generosity.

The men who sat in the dock at Nuremberg on 30 September 1946 awaiting the judges’ verdict had not expected anything other than revenge and punishment when they were first brought into court, ten months before. Goering had said then: ‘As far as the trial is concerned, it’s just a cut-and-dried political affair and I’m prepared for the consequences. The victors are the judges … I know what’s in store for me.’ (2) Yet four days before the International Military Tribunal gave its judgement, Rebecca West, who had observed parts of the trial, wrote: ‘The judgement that is now about to be delivered has to answer a challenge which has been thrown down not only by Germans but by many critics among the Allies. It has to prove that victors can so rise above the ordinary limitations of human nature as to be able to try fairly the foes they vanquished, by submitting themselves to the restraints of law … The meeting of the challenge will also warn all future war-mongers that law can at last pursue them into peace and thus give humanity a new defence against them. Hence the judgement of the Nuremberg Tribunal may be one of the most important events in the history of civilization.’ (3)

There was a noticeable disparity in the view of the Nuremberg Trial between the early expectation of Goering and the final aspiration of Rebecca West. Both had deep roots in a debate which had gone on for hundreds of years – did might make right or should there be a higher law to govern the relationships of nations and control their behaviour? The debate had become more intense and had been accompanied by practical steps in the last fifty years. Was it possible to get international agreement to establish laws and punish those who broke them, above all those who committed the ultimate brutality – aggressive war? The nations had tried. They had passed resolutions condemning violence by states and individuals; after the First World War they had formulated a Treaty which it was hoped would punish the aggressors and deter any future resort to arms; they had founded a League of Nations and hoped that it would govern the world peacefully through negotiations and co-operation. The Second World War had not destroyed all hope of this. Instead it had fuelled the will to find a better way with an extra determination. Faced with destruction, death and atrocity on a scale the world had never seen, people cried: ‘This must never happen again.’

The trial of the Nazi leaders at Nuremberg was not held just to establish their guilt and decide whether to punish them for committing crimes. It was part of the search for a better way to control strong human impulses, aggression and revenge. It was an attempt to replace violence with acceptable and effective rules for human behaviour.

While the trial lasted many people saw it as the essence of courtroom drama, some as a graphic display of the history of a regime or the psychology of its leaders, others as a vital experiment in international co-operation and the application of law. The trial was much more than a hearing of cases against twenty-odd men accused of crimes against the law of war and against humanity and of the crime of launching aggressive war. It was the focus of strong emotions, troubling questions and profound longings. The very events which led up to the trial and shaped it were in themselves dramatic, a nexus of history and a study in the clash of personalities and principles. Those events involved political, legal and moral conflict.

When the eight judges of the Military Tribunal entered the courtroom in Nuremberg at ten o’clock on 30 September, more was expected of them than a judgement on twenty-two individuals. In bringing those Nazi leaders to judgement some hoped for vengeance, some for a just basis for the post-war settlement of Europe. Others hoped for a solution to problems which had plagued the civilized nations for centuries.

References* for Chapter One

1 The scene and the security surrounding the court are described in various newspaper accounts of the day

2 Gilbert

3 Daily Telegraph, 26 September 1946

 

* A list of abbreviations used in the References will be found in the Sources, p. 505


Chapter Two

For centuries war had been the standard method for settling disputes between nations and satisfying their ambitions. Once a war was over the motto was the old Roman one: ‘vae victis’ – woe to the conquered, because the victors could treat them as they saw fit. There were no universally accepted limits to the right of the victors to punish those who had fought against them, nor definitions of war crimes, though there was some sense of the ‘laws and customs of war’ and a shifting view of what was acceptable practice. The defeated might hope for leniency or even a gentlemanly acknowledgement that nasty things happen in war, but often they feared retribution for having fought at all, let alone for fighting with ferocity or means outside whatever happened to be the contemporary norm.

In the 17th century, Hugo Grotius collected and examined the various laws and customs of war, and considered what principles governed or should govern the behaviour of nations towards each other in a book called De Jure Belli ac Pacis (Concerning the Laws of War and Peace). In the view of some, Grotius is the father of International Law. He wrote his book during the Thirty Years War – as savage and destructive a conflict as had ever lacerated Europe. Then, as in 1918 or 1945, actual experience of cruelty and suffering jerked people into thinking how their violence and brutality could be controlled.

Grotius was a scholar and a theorist. From the second half of the 19th century, international opinion began to demand practical action to get agreed limits on methods of fighting and to establish rules of behaviour towards those at the mercy of either side in a war. The Red Cross was founded and its right to look after the wounded was gradually recognized, then extended to such matters as the inspection of prisoner-of-war camps and bringing solace to prisoners in the form of food parcels or extra blankets. A series of Geneva Conventions was widely ratified – beginning in 1864 and developing to that of 1925 on gas and bacteriological warfare, and that of 1929 on wounded and sick prisoners-of-war. Most nations signed the 1899 and 1907 Hague Conventions laying down the rules of war on land and sea, limiting the weapons which belligerents might use, governing the opening of hostilities, and defining the rights of neutrals. By 1914, the international community had decided on definitions of crimes and certain limits on methods of fighting and the treatment of the helpless. But their decisions could not be said to have the full force of law – there were no agreed sanctions to be applied to those who broke the rules, no international courts had been established to try those accused of crimes.

In practice it was accepted that a country where war crimes had been committed could summon, try, and if need be punish those accused of them – whether they were nationals or aliens. Alternatively, the country whose subjects were accused could be left, or put under pressure, to try cases of alleged criminal behaviour.

It became clear to many, however, that these methods for dealing with war criminals were unsatisfactory. They were only applied to little men – individual brutes or subordinates ordered to commit atrocities; the leaders who condoned or encouraged the crimes tended to go scot-free. Furthermore, nations could try the war criminals they caught, but there was no way to compel other states to try their own. The inadequacy of this existing machinery was demonstrated after the First World War, and the experience of its failure and of the attempts to replace it were to influence the thinking of many during the Second World War and to shape the International Military Tribunal at Nuremberg.

From the early days of the First World War the public was fed stories of ‘Hunnish atrocities’. A few of these stories contained an element of truth. Most of those about raped Belgian nuns and impaled babies did not. They had sprung from the lurid imaginations of the pressroom. They were believed partly because people wanted to believe them: they wanted a comprehensible reason for hating the Germans and fighting them. But as a result of their acceptance of the tales the public increasingly demanded more than military victory. They called not just for the punishment of German war criminals but the punishment of those in high places whom they considered guilty of formulating criminal plans and issuing criminal orders. To disentangle the facts and to try to determine whether war crimes were directed by German civil and military leaders, the Bryce Committee was set up in France. In December 1914, J.H. Morgan of the Home Office was sent to join it. This committee was dissolved in 1915. But largely on Morgan’s insistence, a replacement was organized in October 1918 under Birkenhead to enquire into outrages committed by the German forces and in particular to establish the guilt of the General Staff and ‘other highly-placed individuals’.

The British government was undecided about what to do once the facts were gathered, but thought the exercise might have immediate practical benefits. As Lord Milner, the Secretary for War put it, it was doubtful whether a trial should be held but meanwhile ‘it would not at all be a bad thing that the offenders should think that we intended to punish them’. The committee had not intended to include the Kaiser in its brief. They regarded him as a mere figurehead and feared that to accuse him of crimes would obscure the responsibility of the real criminals. (1) The politicians, however, thought otherwise. Lloyd George raised the cry of ‘Hang the Kaiser’. It was taken up and amplified by the public – hang the Kaiser, hang the generals, hang the politicians; they caused the war, now let them suffer for it.

It was, however, characteristic of those who were trying to frame an international peace settlement at Versailles and hoping to achieve a measure of international government through a League of Nations, that rather than allow public vengeance, they preferred due legal process and international decisions. They set up a multinational committee of lawyers to draw up charges against German leaders accused of war crimes and of crimes against humanity. This committee considered adding a further charge – that of causing the war itself – but they could not agree whether causing war was actually a crime in international law. Nor could they feel certain that evidence to establish Germany’s sole responsibility for the hostilities was conclusive – indeed they feared that a thorough investigation might well implicate the victors to some extent. So the lawyers dropped the idea.

The politicians promptly picked it up. They had no inhibitions about the legal niceties or the historical problems. They confidently wrote German war guilt into the Versailles Treaty and in Article 227 they accused the Kaiser himself of ‘a supreme offence against international morality and the sanctity of treaties’.

The politicians ignored the lawyers’ advice on another matter too. The legal committee had recommended the establishment of an international court to try the accused. This idea first fell foul of the French and Italians who would not countenance the presence of Germans or neutrals on such a tribunal. It then met dogged opposition from Lansing, the American Secretary of State and chairman of the Versailles political committee considering war crimes. Lansing felt that any trial of Germans would hamper his own pet scheme of restoring good relations with Germany as quickly as possible. After much argument among and between politicians and lawyers it was decided that a special tribunal with judges from Britain, the United States, France, Italy and Japan should be set up to try the Kaiser. In addition Article 228 of the Versailles Treaty called for a series of military tribunals to deal with those German leaders deemed to have ordered and committed acts in violation of the laws and customs of war. The accused were to be given the right to name counsel for their defence.

But even this compromise between lawyers and politicians broke down in practice. For a start it proved impossible to try the Kaiser. He refused to leave Holland where he had fled after revolution in Germany. The Dutch saw international demands to hand him over as bullying and an attempted infringement of their right as a sovereign nation to chose their own guests. In 1920, the Kaiser toyed with the idea of surrendering himself in the hope of winning better peace terms for his people. But he quickly thought better of it and decided that his conscience would not allow a divinely appointed ruler to submit to any mortal judge. He stayed in Holland until his death in 1941.

More seriously, the Allied attempt to try other Germans before military tribunals nearly caused the collapse of the peace settlement. In 1920 the German government, presented with a list of over 900 names ranging from the Crown Prince through civil and especially military chiefs, simply refused to hand them over for trial. They claimed that many in the Reichswehr preferred a renewal of war to such a capitulation. The Allies believed them and were convinced that German public opinion would back the Army. Morgan, now working with the Disarmament Commission in Berlin, was assured by one of its military members that not only was the Commission’s work threatened, but so too were the lives of its members, given the ugliness of the public mood. The German press had launched a campaign of intimidation and the appeals of the Defence Minister ‘not to do violence to the members of the Commission’ seemed more like fanning the flames. (2) In an attempt to salvage something from the mess the Allies finally persuaded the Germans to hold their own trials of those on the Black List and to accept observers appointed by the international community.

These trials eventually opened in Leipzig late in 1922. They were a fiasco. It proved difficult to find the accused or witnesses; it was almost impossible to force them to appear. Eight hundred and eighty eight out of the 901 finally charged were acquitted or summarily dismissed. For the rest derisorily low sentences were passed. When several of the convicted escaped from prison, public congratulations were offered to the warders. (3)

At least the First World War had introduced new thinking about the problem of dealing with war criminals, however ineffective its outcome. The idea had developed that leaders should be punished for policies which resulted in criminal acts. Lawyers had separated two strands in illegal behaviour and drawn a distinction between war crimes against and by the military and crimes against civilian populations; they had even considered the possibility that war itself might be a crime. The politicians had sensed a need for nations to co-operate in deciding what were crimes and who were criminals; some wanted to substitute an international court for the trial of a major criminal rather than leave him to the retribution of the aggrieved. But the fruit of this thinking had been bitter. In 1918 existing law, especially on whether war itself was criminal, had seemed vague and contentious. International co-operation had been invoked but not obtained. The impotence of the international community to compel a nation to try its own leaders had been exposed – even had German courts existed in 1945, it is doubtful whether anyone would have trusted them to try prominent Nazis, not after what had happened at Leipzig. The attempt to find a better way of dealing with war crimes had foundered on legal and political rocks. Hopes of preventing aggression by the punitive clauses of the Treaty of Versailles and the establishment of the League of Nations failed too. But the inability to introduce international sanctions to give force to international rules after 1918 did not extinguish the desire to establish them; lawyers and politicians from time to time gnawed at the theoretical and practical possibilities. And the renewal of war in 1939 gave impetus and urgency to their discussions.

For, undeterred by previous failure and the lack of existing machinery, every Allied nation between 1939 and 1945 demanded punishment for those who committed war crimes. Criminals of all nations were denounced. During the War both German and Allied military authorities held courts martial of their own nationals. From 1942 an Extraordinary State Commission in the USSR was investigating German war crimes in Russia; in 1943, three German officers were tried in Kharkov and shot. Inevitably once the War finished there would be many more trials and executions of individuals who had committed atrocities. Yet, even more strongly than in the First World War, there was the conviction that the enemy’s leaders constituted a criminal regime, that the incidents of atrocity were part of a deliberate policy of crime and that those who were most responsible and deserving of severest punishment were the Nazi leaders themselves. There may have been uncertainty in the Great War about who had caused it; in this one there was no doubt in Allied minds that the Nazis had planned it, then attacked every country in Europe without ultimatum and in spite of treaties and assurances. In the First World War the German General Staff and government may or may not have condoned war crimes; in the Second it was believed that the wholesale nature of such crimes could only be explained by deliberate intention and use of resources – they were way beyond the nature and number to be expected simply from the vicious behaviour of criminal individuals and groups. Furthermore there had been crimes against humanity in Germany itself and in occupied Europe which exceeded anything suffered previously and which again could only be explained as Nazi policy. In the Great War the atrocity stories had been exaggerated; during this war the scale of atrocity was, if anything, underestimated.

Even so, it was shocking enough. No matter if the full horror of the concentration camps was only understood when they were liberated, there was always at the very least an awareness that such camps held people without charge, trial or right of appeal and treated them cruelly. No one might be able yet to calculate the figures for murders, enslavement and pillage by the Nazis but partizans and Resistance workers had given enough indication of the bestial nature of Nazi rule. The Nazis themselves had publicized such outrages as the destruction of the Czech village of Lidice, the murder of its menfolk and deportation to concentration camps of its women and children – all in reprisal for the assassination of Heydrich, the Protector of Bohemia. As a French government memorandum to the European Advisory Commission on War Crimes put it: crimes were taking place on such a scale ‘by an enemy who has sought to annihilate whole nations, who has elevated murder to a political system, that we no longer have the duty of punishing merely those who commit but also those who plan the crime’. (4)

As awareness of these crimes grew throughout the War and public disgust increased, the Allied governments issued threats of punishment, both to express the general sense of revulsion and in the hope of deterring Nazis from criminal acts in the future. For the first time, the punishment of war crimes became not just the automatic result of a war but a declared official policy in fighting it. Even so, the wording of that policy remained vague for several years. There was to be much procrastination, confused thinking, tortuous negotiation, and haphazard decision before it was clarified. It was a long road between the determination to punish and the establishment of an International Military Tribunal to decide who should be punished.

In October 1941, while the United States was still neutral, President Roosevelt drew attention to the wholesale execution by the Germans of hostages in France and he warned that ‘one day a frightful retribution’ would be exacted. Later in the month Churchill joined Roosevelt in a public declaration: ‘The massacres of the French are an example of what Hitler’s Nazis are doing in many other countries under their yoke. The atrocities committed in Poland, Yugoslavia, Norway, Holland, Belgium, and particularly behind the German front in Russia, exceed anything that has been known since the darkest and most bestial ages of humanity. The punishment of these crimes should now be counted among the major goals of the war.’ (5) The governments in exile of the occupied countries of Europe joined in the outcry and threats. Warnings of punishment were also issued in response to specific incidents. The British government, for example, threatened retribution for the killing after recapture of fifty British airmen who had escaped from the prisoner-of-war camp Stalag Luft III at Sagan. During the 1944 Rising in Warsaw, they also warned the Nazis that captured Polish soldiers must be treated as lawful combatants (so entitled to protection under the Geneva convention) or justice would be exacted from them.

But who was to exact justice? Under what conditions? Was it enough after this war to fall back once again on leaving each country to try its own criminals and as many of the enemy’s as could be caught? How scrupulous would these countries be when trying those who had conquered and occupied them? As after 1918, many felt that mere revenge was not enough; that the impulse must be channelled and controlled by international action. In January 1942 the representatives of nine occupied countries in Europe held a conference at St James’s in London to discuss such questions. They issued a declaration on 13 January that: ‘international solidarity is necessary to avoid the repression of these acts of violence simply by acts of vengeance on the part of the general public and in order to satisfy the sense of justice of the civilized world.’ (6) The declaration announced that punishment for war crimes, whoever committed them, was now a principal war aim of the governments at the conference. It also made clear an additional intention: to bring to justice not only those who themselves perpetrated crimes, but  – more ambitiously – those who ordered them. After this war at least it seemed that the leaders would not escape punishment. The St James’s Declaration was approved by Britain, the United States and the USSR.

It had expressed disgust not only at atrocity but at the idea of mere vengeance. It implied a desire for some form of judicial proceeding to determine guilt and satisfy a sense of justice. It was an unmistakable warning to the Germans that international action was intended against war criminals and that Nazi leaders would bear their full share of responsibility. The declaration, however, was expressed in general terms. It did not come down to the nuts and bolts – no names of alleged criminals were given, no machinery for trial was outlined. The St James’s Conference was followed by only one practical step. The United Nations War Crimes Commission was set up in London in 1943 to collect and collate information on war crimes and criminals. It was made up of representatives of seventeen nations – but had no Russian member. Stalin would only join if every Soviet Republic were given separate representation. This was refused.

It was a bad start to an experiment in international co-operation. From then on, things only got worse. A memorandum from Sir Cecil Hurst, the British Chairman of the Commission, sent to the Lord Chancellor’s office in March 1944, said that the body was incapable of doing the job it was designed for – collecting evidence. They relied on the assistance of the governments represented and their help was not forthcoming. Hurst complained that after four months of work the Commission had only received seventy cases; half of them were so incomplete as to be useless and most were trivial.

The governments had made a lot of noise about war crimes but did not seem to be making a lot of effort to substantiate their allegations. Hurst was clearly irritated by what he regarded as laziness or incompetence. Perhaps he did not recognize the major problem of the governments he criticized: they were in exile, cut off from the scenes of the alleged crimes and without access to witnesses or documentary evidence. What worried him even more than the paucity and flimsiness of the cases presented to the Commission was the members’ sense of frustration that the UNWCC was ‘limited by its present terms of reference’. It was limited to investigating war crimes pure and simple. These, he said, were not the incidents which had most outraged public opinion and distressed the governments in exile. The biggest demand was for punishment of those who murdered and terrorized civilian populations (what the legal committee at Versailles had called crimes against humanity) and Hurst himself felt that it was a major priority to investigate charges of acts against Jews.

Many people too had come to believe that Nazi institutions as well as individuals were guilty of crimes. The organization most often accused of crimes against humanity was the Gestapo, and Hurst put forward a radical UNWCC proposal that not only should individuals be arrested and held for trial but that ‘all members of a body like the Gestapo should be responsible for the acts of the individual members’ and interned until proceedings could be instituted. (7)

Hurst’s searching comments fell on deaf ears in the British government – which as host to the governments represented on the Commission could have done most to influence their attitude and its work. No steps were taken to introduce changes in the UNWCC’s brief; little was done to encourage allied governments to speed up the flow of information. By the end of the year, Hurst was writing to Lord Simon, the Lord Chancellor, that he was conscious of ‘a feeling of doubt in some quarters as to whether HMG really means business in connection with the policy proclaimed by the Allies of bringing war criminals to justice.’ He pointed to ‘the lack of effective contact between HMG and the Commission’. He blamed one body in particular for the difficulties the UNWCC was experiencing: ‘In general the Foreign Office makes no response to the Commission’s recommendations.’ (8) Schuster, too, was critical of the attitude of the Foreign Office. He wrote to Lord Simon on 24 November 1944: ‘I cannot conceal from myself the idea that the Foreign Office are not deeply interested in the subject.’ He conceded that they were no doubt busy men who thought other matters more important, ‘but the general impression left in my mind is that they regard the whole thing as a nuisance, but perhaps a necessary nuisance.’ (9)

The murmurs of discontent at last reached the Foreign Secretary himself. Anthony Eden wrote a long letter to Hurst in December 1944 flatly denying all charges of Foreign Office neglect. He poured out soothing assurances that everything would speed up and ease as Europe was liberated. He even offered the ultimate official balm – the possibility of finding extra staff for the Commission. (10) Eden’s letter did not prevent the resignation of Sir Cecil Hurst from the UNWCC in the following month. ‘I have had a bit of a breakdown,’ he wrote, ‘and the doctors have told me that I must give it up.’ (11)

The UNWCC continued to collect evidence and names of suspected criminals. It had never been asked to define crimes, consider whether distinction should be made between major and minor criminals, or to decide what form judicial proceedings against them should take.

A significant move to clarify some of these issues had been taken at the Moscow Conference of Foreign Ministers in November 1943. Here, Britain, the United States and the Soviet Union had issued a joint declaration condemning Nazi atrocities in occupied Europe. This stated that ‘at the time of the granting of any armistice to any government which may be set up in Germany, those German officers and men and members of the Nazi Party who have been responsible for or who have taken part in the above atrocities, massacres and executions, will be sent back to the countries in which their abominable deeds were done in order that they may be judged and punished according to the laws of those liberated countries and of the Free Governments which will be erected therein.’

The Moscow Declaration broke no new ground thus far; the return of criminals to the scenes of their crimes was a standard procedure. But the foreign ministers then tackled the harder questions raised at the St James’s conference – how to deal with those Nazi leaders who had condoned or ordered crimes all over Europe and the need for international solidarity in seeking their punishment. In so doing they began to categorize the war criminals and create a class of criminal leader. They stated that ‘the above declaration is without prejudice to the case of major criminals whose offences have no particular geographical location and who will be punished by a joint declaration of the Governments of the Allies’. (12) So the foreign ministers had created two groups of war criminals and proposed two forms of treatment: national action for localized offences, and international action for those whose criminal orders had applied in several countries. But there was one important omission in the Moscow Declaration – there was no mention of trial before punishment for the major criminals. Indeed talk of punishment by ‘joint declaration’ seems to preclude trial. Why was there no mention of judicial proceedings? Was it the memory of the practical difficulties and the final farce of the Versailles discussions and the Leipzig trials? Or was it that the foreign ministers reckoned that justice was too good for such men?

There is no record that Leipzig was mentioned at the Moscow Conference. There is however evidence that those present did not think the fate of leading Nazi criminals merited much time or trouble. At Moscow the US Secretary of State, Cordell Hull, actually said: ‘If I had my way I would take Hitler and Mussolini and Tojo and their accomplices and bring them before a drumhead court martial, and at sunrise the following morning there would occur an historic incident.’ (13)

At the Tehran Conference at the end of 1943 Roosevelt’s son, Elliott, gained the impression that Stalin was prepared to go even further. In the boozy atmosphere of a banquet the Russian leader gave to the other Allied statesmen, Stalin proposed a toast: ‘to the quickest possible justice for all German war criminals … I drink to the justice of the firing squad.’ He estimated that the firing squad should rid the world of about 50,000 leading Germans, mainly military. Churchill expressed shock. Roosevelt tried to cool the atmosphere with a jocular suggestion that perhaps the number could be cut to 49,000. Stalin and Molotov then claimed that the whole idea had only been a joke. (14) Perhaps indeed it was. When discussing policy on official occasions Stalin always recommended that war criminals be given a judicial hearing before (inevitably) being shot. Churchill, on the other hand, can only have been shocked by Stalin’s proposal because of the huge number of executions suggested, not the method. For a long time his government would argue against any form of trial and would favour some kind of dressed-up summary execution.

By the end of the war many people would have been content with summary execution, naked and unashamed. The public would have found it easy to draw up lists of ogres who had haunted the imagination in recent years; their deaths would have occasioned little soul-searching. The shock expressed when Mussolini and his mistress, Clara Petacci, were shot by Italian partizans in 1945 came less from the fact that they had been summarily executed than because their bodies was first hung upside down from lamp-posts, then left to lie in the gutter. There are, it seems, a few decencies which ought to be observed even in a lynching. And ‘summary execution’ is really a euphemism for lynching. When in March 1945 Anthony Eden, the British Foreign Secretary, was asked in the House of Commons whether when a British soldier met Hitler it would be his duty to shoot him or take him alive Eden replied: ‘I am quite satisfied to leave the decision to the British soldier concerned.’ (15) This was veiled encouragement to lynch. Eden had implied that he did not mind what the soldier did. Yet the law is categorical – it is any soldier’s duty to take and keep a prisoner-of-war alive, however notorious he may be.

Cordell Hull’s idea of a drumhead court martial only applied a little cosmetic to the procedure of shooting out of hand. This roughest form of justice would allow several minutes to be spent establishing that the prisoner really was the Adolf Hitler or whoever, and the charges to be read to him to explain why he was about to be shot; and would provide the court with the authority to give orders to a firing squad. When the British Foreign Office was considering this method with some enthusiasm in 1944, it reckoned that the whole process from the moment of arrest would be over and done within six hours. (16)

Others considering what to do with major war criminals rejected the solution of short, sharp military action. Eden changed his mind about it from time to time. On one occasion he might suggest lynching Hitler, but he told a meeting of the Prime Ministers of Belgium, Czechoslovakia and Poland, and the Foreign Ministers of Greece, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Yugoslavia and France in 1942 that the disposal of Hitler and other principals should ‘be settled as a matter of high policy’. (17) This indicated that at this moment he saw the responsibility for dealing with top criminals as a political rather than a military or indeed legal matter. Those who shared his views argued that since the charge against Hitler and his colleagues was not based on a series of isolated incidents but on the totality of their acts, since the aim in punishing them was to give expression to international condemnation of their entire policy and to cleanse the moral atmosphere of their polluting presence, then what was involved was a political indictment and what was appropriate was political, executive action by the international community. Underlying this argument was the belief that no kind of hearing was required to establish guilt – as the Lord Chancellor put it: ‘Fancy “trying” Hitler!’ (18) Many felt his guilt and that of his leading associates did not need proving. What was left to the international community was to settle punishment. In Lord Simon’s view that was not a question to be left to ‘a posse of jurists’; it was a responsibility for world leaders, and they could look to history for an example of successful international action.

For there was a precedent for executive action by allies against a former enemy whose acts seemed abhorrent: that of Napoleon. His case offered interesting parallels with the problems faced after the Second World War and persuasive arguments for those who favoured joint political decision on the fate of major war criminals.

When Napoleon escaped from Elba, broke the terms of the 1814 Treaty of Fontainebleau, and marched again on Europe, he was declared ‘hors la loi’ by the representatives of all the European states attending the peace negotiations at Vienna (significantly France herself was one). A unanimous condemnation having been passed, the states then had to decide what to do about the man they had outlawed. The Prussian military leader, Blücher, said he would shoot the Emperor if he fell into Prussian hands (lynch him). The Russians pressed for summary execution (drumhead court martial perhaps). Finally, however, the Powers agreed to exile Napoleon permanently on St Helena. Here he would be out of harm’s way and kept at British expense without incurring the embarrassment of executing a sovereign. (All European rulers had condemned the execution of Louis XVI and did not want their subjects to imagine that killing rulers was an acceptable way of expressing their opinion of them.) This was a decision reached by the entire European community (including France) – and it was a purely political decision. No one had seriously considered a trial for Napoleon; it was not deemed necessary since his crimes seemed self-evident, condemnation was universal, and the European statesmen had no qualms about punishing him for them.

However, the idea of a form of trial for major Nazi war criminals was attractive to many even though the form they favoured might seem repugnant to others. There were recognized advantages in more recent precedents than that of Napoleon – show trials. Stalin had punished his opponents and frightened others by the trials he had mounted in the 1930s; Hitler had made a public spectacle out of the trial of those who had plotted against his life in July 1944. Should the nations now decide on a show trial for Nazi war criminals, they could present massive evidence of their guilt to convince any wavering public opinion, to put on record their abhorrence of the crimes and to justify the inevitable punishment. In a show trial it is even possible to allow a little defence – just enough to demonstrate how feeble it is.

There was one final option open for those who were shocked by the roughness of military justice, convinced that executive action is no justice at all, and worried by the practical problems, political repercussions and moral implications of punishing war criminals. It was to do nothing at all. For those whose consciences were too tender to throw the first stone, it was appealing to tell the targets of international loathing to go away and sin no more. Doing nothing could become a high moral stance. Refusal to assess guilt, degrees of responsibility or mitigating circumstances not only spared effort, it could be seen as a sign of greater moral sensitivity than that displayed by people demanding punishment. The chances were, of course, that alleged criminals whose guilt it was apparently immoral to determine would simply be lynched by those who had suffered as a result of their crimes. But then the blood would be on the hands of the lynchers, not on the hands of those who claimed moral courage in avoiding decision lest it prove painful to themselves.

Before the end of the war, each of these different possible ways of dealing with top Nazi war criminals had some vocal support. But what sort of basis did any of them offer for the new and better world which many believed they had been fighting for? How could they be reconciled with the indignation expressed during the War at Nazi ruthlessness and disregard for existing laws and civilized standards? How could those who expressed concern for the rule of law or claimed superior moral sensitivity stomach mob rule and lynching? For lynching is what virtually everyone expected would be the mass instinct once the War finished. It was to stop the people as well as nations taking the law into their own hands that the St James’s Conference had called for international action to avoid mere vengeance and to satisfy a sense of justice. People’s grievance and bitterness were recognized, but lynching is revolting and uncontrollable. If it is accepted as the natural and indeed the justifiable expression of the people’s anger, where should the lines be drawn? Is it justified for a week, a month, a year? Who deserves lynching and for what? Is law and order to be restored after the lynchers have murdered 50,000, or only after every public and private grudge has been settled?

There are objections too against all the other canvassed solutions to the problem of top war criminals. Can military action either by a soldier with a captive in a ditch, or by a drumhead court martial, be seen as much more than institutionalized lynching? Military action certainly carries worrying implications. To kill out of hand German prisoners-of-war for killing Allied prisoners-of-war can be seen as breaking the very Geneva Convention being invoked. Should the military be asked to accept the responsibility for mistaken identity or the possibility that the rumour of a man’s guilt is unfounded?

The politicians might be willing to take the responsibility from the soldiers, but they had had problems enough reaching a common decision on the fate of Napoleon – agreement over a long list of Nazis would multiply the problems. And executive action might create martyrs – arguably the reputations of Napoleon, Louis XVI or Charles I were glamourized by their politically ordained punishment and no one wanted to create myths round the leading Nazis. Carefully worded official briefs explaining and justifying executive punishment might well be dismissed as propaganda, hiding the victors’ spleen against their former opponents. There are better ways of showing the strength of indignation at crimes and the determination of nations to punish those who transgress the rules of the international community than by issuing press handouts after a firing squad.

Show trials are no better. They may provide a more dramatic display of the evidence and an opportunity to the victors to justify their fight and bring home to the vanquished the nature of their leaders. But they are, at best, only a more sophisticated form of propaganda, not a true legal process in which, according to the civilized standards which the Allies had claimed they wished to reintroduce to Europe, evidence is presented by both sides, allowing full argument and ample opportunity for rebuttal by the defence. It may be tempting to give your enemies a dose of their own medicine, but conducting the kind of trial Hitler gave the Bomb Plotters in 1944 merely suggests that you are no better than him, and ultimately suggests that the high-sounding aims expressed in the War were no more than battle cries. It leaves the German people, whose future attitudes and behaviour it is hoped to influence, with the impression that for the moment – and perhaps only temporarily – the Allies, not the Nazis, have the power to terrorize and kill.

Torn between the conflicting alternatives for dealing with major war criminals, aware of the demand to find some way to meet public aspirations for some better way to run the world, the Allied leaders had made little progress by 1944 beyond the St James’s and Moscow Declarations. They had defined a distinction between war criminals and the leaders who promoted their crimes; they had agreed on punishment of the minor criminals by national courts and of the major criminals by international action. But they had not decided what that action should be. The matter was delegated by Heads of State to their Foreign Ministers. It slipped down the agenda of meetings and little was done. J.H. Morgan had written to the Lord Chancellor as long ago as March 1940 to explain the attitude of governments to war crimes in the First World War and to draw attention to the failure of the Leipzig trials. He had emphasized then the need to start gathering evidence of war crimes and lists of criminals, and the urgency of deciding well in advance what action would be taken so as to be ready to announce proceedings as part of the terms of armistice. The lesson he drew from 1918 was that everything had been left too late. But the reply he eventually received from the Lord Chancellor’s office was inevitable: ‘At the present time we are more fully occupied in beating the Germans on the field rather than in hanging them afterwards.’ (19) That was also the view of the Allied statesmen. Despite occasional stabs of conscience and flashes of rhetoric, war crimes had a low priority; the politicians had an alliance to keep together, a war to win, all the complexity of the post-war settlement of Europe to consider.

With the Allied invasion of Europe though, the need for an agreed policy on the principal war criminals became more pressing. Lord Wright, the new chairman of the UNWCC, pointed out to Churchill in September 1944 that many criminals would escape unless machinery were introduced immediately to catch, hold and try them. (20) He suggested that a ‘great number’ of military courts be set up. Churchill was pricked by Wright’s criticisms of government sluggishness so far; he confessed to Eden that they caused him ‘great uneasiness’ and wondered about, rather than decided upon, any action. Eden, who had become a proponent of political action in theory but of no action in practice, suddenly woke up to the immediacy of the problem. He wrote to the UNWCC insisting that as the Allied armies took prisoners they must be equipped with lists of wanted men and evidence of their crimes so that the suspected criminals could be segregated. The Foreign Office, having balked the work of the UNWCC since its inception, now demanded an immediate report on criminals and their crimes. ‘We do not want,’ Eden said, ‘to fall into the First World War trap where we did not extract the wanted as a condition of the armistice.’ (21) J.H. Morgan’s letter to the Lord Chancellor had finally been vindicated after four years.

But Eden and the British government were merely aware of a problem; they took little action themselves to solve it. By April 1945, the British military authorities were exasperated by government failure to give clear directives on the handling of suspected war criminals. There was a flood of telegrams to the War Office from the theatre commanders. Alexander, the Supreme Allied Commander, Mediterranean Theatre, cabled on 21 April asking whether the Army was to apprehend those on UNWCC lists; ‘guidance required urgently for future planning’ he pleaded. (22) A note on this telegram by a War Office official pointed out that American Chiefs of Staff had agreed to order their theatre commanders to apprehend those named by the Commission, but the War Office could not make up its mind what to do. They still could not reach a decision when they got another telegram from Alexander on 30 April saying that the capture of Mussolini and Clara Petacci made instructions ‘imperative’. Only on 11 May did the Combined Chiefs of Staff promise their commanders that a list of suspects was being ‘prepared’; once received, those named should be apprehended and detained as normal prisoners-of-war. (23) Quite what was to be done with them thereafter, no one said.

Official American response to the problem had not been much quicker. For a long time in the United States there had been scepticism in some circles about the amount of atrocity committed on the Continent and a suspicion that pre-war refugees and exiled governments’ stories were to be taken with large pinches of salt. The attitude of George Ball, later to achieve distinction as the right-hand man of Dean Rusk, was typical. He wrote: ‘Of course I had heard dark stories of the treatment of the Slavs, Jews, Gypsies and others who did not meet the Wagnerian standards of the Master Race. But I believe … that I had tended to think those rumours exaggerated … Nor do I think I was less well-informed than most other Americans, including those like myself who had served in the government. Perhaps we were so preoccupied with the squalid menace of the war we did not focus on this unspeakable ghastliness. It may also be that the idea of mass extermination was so far outside the traditional comprehension of most Americans that we instinctively refused to believe in its existence.’ (24) (A European might like to add that the idea of mass extermination was way beyond the comprehension of anyone; it is still difficult to grasp.)

America, thanks to geography, had been insulated against the horrors of the War. Only in December 1944 did the American public have its first direct experience of Nazi brutality. Seventy American prisoners-of-war were shot by the First SS Panzer Regiment at Malmédy in Belgium. Before Malmédy such crimes had been committed against other people, not Americans. The question of war crimes could be seen as remote and rather abstract; now it was painfully real. And as the Allied armies advanced through Europe and into Germany the concept of crimes against humanity took on meaning as well. Newsreels showed the squalor and degradation of the slave labour camps and the horror of the gas chambers; newspapers were filled with stories of the conditions suffered by prisoners-of-war, eyewitness accounts of extermination squads, the piles of corpses discovered by the liberating armies in the concentration camps. A telegram from the British ambassador in Washington, Lord Halifax, told the Foreign Office in April that the American Press had been full of such reports for weeks; there had been a call in the House of Representatives to speed up the work of the UNWCC. (25) The public put more pressure on the politicians after a visit to Buchenwald and Dachau concentration camps by sixteen newspaper editors and publishers in May and similar tours by Senators and Congressmen at the same time. The British Embassy reported that their stories had received ‘wide and sustained publicity’, unequalled by any other coverage. Those visitors had all reached the same conclusion – that the Nazis had had ‘a master plan … based on a policy of calculated and organized brutality’. They all called for speedy action by the United Nations. (26)

So too did the general public. The National Opinion Research Centre of the University of Denver had carried out a small poll at the end of 1944 and in January 1945 to discover how Americans viewed Germans. They found then that a large section of the population had friendly feelings towards them (though the more educated tended to be harsher); most people spoke of a need for ‘re-education’, approved of sending relief to the Germans, objected to the country’s dismemberment and hoped the Allies would help to rebuild German peacetime industry. (27) But by the middle of the year many of those friendly feelings had evaporated. In the view of the British Embassy in Washington the newspaper reports and the newsreels had made the American public think again. They were thinking of punishment.

There had been clamour for a clearly defined policy from other quarters too. Once Europe was invaded by the Allies governments in exile feared, rightly, that Hitler would inflict a final programme of death and destruction in their countries as he was forced to withdraw his troops. They called for specific declarations by all the Powers on how such action would be punished. Jewish organizations hoped to save some of the Jews still in Nazi hands. They lobbied governments to issue threats of retribution for any future murders.

The governments of the major powers resisted public outcry and military requests for a long time. Until the invasion of Europe it had been possible to haver and to defer any concrete decisions on the treatment of major war criminals. Indeed, it could be seen as desirable to postpone a decision. They expected German maltreatment of Allied prisoners-of-war if they emphasized at this stage the intention of punishing Nazi war criminals. This was the reason for stopping the war crimes trials in Sicily in 1943 and the Anglo-American decision in 1944 not to segregate suspects in their prisoner-of-war camps.

However, as public opinion grew more bitter, and once the Allied armies crossed into Germany itself and top Nazis began to fall captive, the statesmen could delay no longer. They were faced with the realities of an occupation of Germany and the reconstruction of Europe. They must decide now what to do with the high-ranking Nazis who had led their country into war, decimated and destroyed much of Europe, and who in consequence were thought of as criminal by most of the rest of the world.
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Chapter Three

The problem of what to do with the leader of all the Nazis, the Führer, had been solved for the Allies by Hitler himself. He was dead. Not that the Allies could be certain – no identifiable body was found. A British Intelligence officer and historian, Hugh Trevor-Roper, was detailed to investigate the story of Hitler’s last days and to cross-examine witnesses before there could be any confidence that Hitler had not escaped and gone into hiding. His report deducing that Hitler was indeed dead was submitted on 1 November 1945. What was known meanwhile was that on 1 May, Hamburg Radio interrupted a performance of Bruckner’s Seventh Symphony. There was a role of drums, followed by a solemn announcement: Hitler ‘fighting to the last breath against Bolshevism, fell for Germany this afternoon in his operational headquarters in the Reich Chancellery’.

Not surprisingly in a radio service controlled by Dr Goebbels, this brief announcement was a tissue of lies and evasions. Hitler had in fact died the previous afternoon; he had not been killed in his last fight, he had committed suicide. Bolshevism had not been his only enemy; the Russians had indeed reached Berlin, but their allies were in occupation of much of the rest of the country. Nor did he die for Germany, or at least not for the German people. He had come to hate them and blame them for military defeat. In revenge for what Hitler regarded as their betrayal he had given orders in March for the total destruction of all military, industrial and communications installations, all means of transport. When Albert Speer protested that this order would destroy the basis of existence for the nation, the Führer told him: ‘If the war is lost the nation will also perish… Besides those who remain after the battle are only the inferior ones, for the good have been killed.’ It is doubtful that Hitler had proved himself to be either superior or good by shooting himself through the mouth in his bunker in the Reich Chancellery.

Those who had been closest to him in the final weeks and shared his delusions of victory while Germany outside the bunker was bombed and shelled to ruins would have come top on anyone’s list of criminal Nazi leaders in 1945. Dr Goebbels, however, was certainly dead. He had marketed Hitler as the saviour of Germany, used his oratory and theatrical flair to foist Nazism on Germany, deployed the media and his own venom to incite the people to hatred of Jews, Slavs, Marxists and Christians, then screamed at them his fantasy that the Allies would split and be defeated. On the day after Hitler’s death, Goebbels poisoned his own six children, then he and his wife were shot, on his instructions, by an SS orderly. Some time before his death he had commented: ‘We shall go down in history as the greatest statesmen of all time, or as the greatest criminals.’ History has put Goebbels in the latter class.

By the time Berlin fell it was probable that Heinrich Müller, the former head of the Gestapo, and director of the extermination of the Jews, was dead. He had shared the final madness in the Führer’s bunker and was last seen there on 28 April. Thereafter he disappeared. His burial was recorded on 17 May, but when the body was finally exhumed it could not be identified. Given the lack of certainty, rumours flew about Müller. Some said he had defected to the East, others that he had been seen in South America. The public imagination was to be titillated for years by similar unsubstantiated reports of the reappearance of Martin Bormann. Bormann had been Hitler’s private secretary and Head of the Party Chancellery. His posts had given him unparalleled knowledge and power: control over Party finances and appointments, control over what documents Hitler saw and who had access to him. Bormann had the Führer’s total trust; by 1942 he was virtually his Deputy. He was hated and feared by everyone else.

When the Allied authorities started looking for Bormann in May 1945, most reports suggested he was dead. But how he died remained a mystery. He had left the bunker on 30 April. One witness swore he had then committed suicide and that his body had been seen in Berlin; another, Hitler’s chauffeur, claimed to have seen him killed by a Russian anti-tank shell as both men sheltered either side of a German tank trying to break through the Russian lines.

There were no such doubts about the fate of Heinrich Himmler, the man who had developed the SS from a bodyguard for Hitler of 200 men into a state within the state, controlling all police, concentration camps, and the Waffen-SS to rival the Wehrmacht. Himmler had died before many witnesses. He alone of Hitler’s inner circle had admitted the reality of defeat. His only hope was to save his skin. He abandoned Hitler and Berlin, tried to start peace negotiations with the Allies, hoped to curry favour by calling off the slaughter of the Jews. Hitler had denounced him in his last will and testament and stripped him of all offices. Once Germany surrendered, Himmler made pathetically feeble attempts to go to ground – he shaved off his moustache, wore a patch over one eye. But while he was trying to work through Allied lines into Bavaria on 3 May he was captured at a British control point. He remained at a British interrogation centre for several weeks without being recognized until he seemed to lose patience with his captors and decided to announce his identity. Soon afterwards Himmler bit on the cyanide capsule in his mouth and died.

The disappearance from the scene of the major figures still left a long list of Nazi leaders whom the Allies wished to capture and treat as war criminals. Few of them were found in Berlin; most had fled the city long since, while it was still possible to escape from the Russians.

Walther Funk, the president of the Reichsbank from 1939 and former Minister of Economics, was found there, though. An early interrogation report described him as ‘a tubby homosexual suffering from diabetes, and afflicted at the moment with bladder pains.’ (1) When he was moved to internment in Baden-Baden, Funk lived up to his name – sweating furiously and scared to death of his interrogator. (2) In Berlin too was Admiral Raeder, the commander-in-chief of the German Navy until 1943. He was captured by the Russians and kept under close house arrest. They moved to Moscow however, Hans Fritzsche – a subordinate of Goebbels at the Propaganda Ministry. His broadcasts during the War had earned him the title of ‘His Master’s Voice’. Since the Russians could not take Goebbels prisoner, they had to rest content with his dog. They put Fritzsche in the Lubianka prison and for the next few months gave him the customary Russian treatment for prisoners: deprivation of sleep, intensive interrogation, and standardized confessions to sign. (3)

There was no difficulty in finding one group of suspects on the Allied lists. They were known to have formed a new government under Admiral Doenitz at Flensburg in Schleswig-Holstein, near the Danish border. Hitler had named Doenitz as his successor in his will. This cabinet had no illusions about escaping military defeat; they defined their main task as staving off surrender while they pulled back as much as possible of the Germany Army and the civilian population in the East to save them from the Russians. They had sent Admiral Hans von Friedeburg and General Jodl to General Eisenhower’s headquarters in Rheims to stall, but within a week of taking office Doenitz had been obliged to accept unconditional surrender.

Even so, visitors to Flensburg then witnessed a ludicrous example of the muddle of Allied policy at the end of the War. Though the Allies occupied the city, though German sovereignty had been signed away, for a further fortnight Doenitz’s skeleton government still gave the impression of functioning. Every morning its members held cabinet meetings and solemnly discussed and voted on plans they had no power to implement. When J.K. Galbraith, the American economist, arrived there on 19 May as part of the American team investigating the effects of Allied heavy bombing of Germany, he boggled at the sight of the Allied officers scrupulously saluting German officers who were milling about the streets supervising the massive influx of their troops returning from Denmark and the east. When Galbraith’s survey team drove out of the town, they had to stop twice at German military control posts before reaching the moated schloss where Albert Speer was in residence and at leisure after cabinet meetings to help them with their investigations. The schloss and the minister were guarded by an SS detachment. The Americans reached the conclusion that the Allied authorities simply could not work out the correct protocol for taking the surrender of a government that had ceased to exist in consequence of its unconditional surrender. So for the moment they were leaving it some trappings while acting elsewhere as if it did not exist. Speer wished it did not. He suggested to Galbraith and his colleagues that they ‘arrest him and so spare him this opéra bouffe’ which with some pride in his mastery of the American idiom he called ‘Grade B Warner Brothers.’ (4)

The last act of the opéra bouffe was finally performed on the morning of 23 May. Galbraith stood on the upper deck of the Hamburg-America line vessel the Patria and watched Admirals Doenitz and Friedeburg as they ‘came smartly along the quay, saluted the ship and flag and marched up the gangplank’ to surrender the final tattered remnant of the Third Reich.

The capitulation of the Doenitz government resulted in the arrest of all its members; among them several of those who were to end in the dock at Nuremberg: Doenitz himself, Jodl, Speer, and Keitel who had previously escaped arrest by the Russians when he refused their pressing invitation to stay in Berlin when he took them a draft surrender.

Lurking in Flensburg was someone who had been refused a post in the Doenitz cabinet – Alfred Rosenberg, the Nazi ideologue, Party member before Hitler, once the supreme authority in the Eastern Occupied Territories captured from the Russians, and Goering’s greatest rival as an art looter. His books had been the bibles of the doctrine of Aryan racial superiority. He would only allow them to be translated into the suitably ‘Aryan’ Scandinavian and Baltic languages (the Baltic states had to be Aryan – that was where Rosenberg himself was born). An interrogation report said that Rosenberg’s books had ‘assured him a place among the more unintelligible prophets’ but the interrogator complained: ‘It would take time and patience for an ordinary mortal to get a footing in the world of Alfred Rosenberg.’ (5) He had been found by British soldiers, who were actually searching for Himmler, in a hospital where he was recovering from a sprained ankle – the result of a drinking bout in which he had been drowning his sorrows, or his panic.

As panic had gripped so many of the Nazi leaders in the final weeks of the War, they had scattered – hoping to lie low, hoping above all to escape the Russians from whom they expected short shrift or a lingering death in a prisoner-of-war camp in the coming winter. It was a daunting task to track down those listed as major war criminals. For a start the Allied forces had so many other problems to tackle. Their military duties did not cease with Germany’s formal surrender: they were still on alert in case fanatics tried to continue the fight and they had to bring in and install the equipment needed for military occupation. Furthermore, the forces were now responsible for the entire administration of the country. That was a frightening challenge. The country was divided into Four Zones under each of the four major Powers. In the British zone alone there were something like a million wounded Germans, a million and a half prisoners-of-war, up to a million foreign workers who were unwilling or unable to go home. The occupying forces had to keep law and order, decide whether to shelter and feed the population which, thanks to the fighting, was now huddled in the ruins of cities and, thanks to the destruction of transport, virtually unable to obtain food unless the Allies provided it. They had to repair or construct from scratch basic services – water, electricity, sewage. They had to establish institutions for running their own Zones and co-ordinating with the others. Given the plight of Germany and the complexity of the problems the Allies faced, war criminals might well seem a secondary priority.

The physical problems of going out to find them were acute. Ivone Kirkpatrick, the newly-appointed British Political Adviser to General Eisenhower, witnessed some of them when he struggled to drive from British headquarters at Bad Oeynhausen to Frankfurt. ‘Everything which modern man considers necessary to the maintenance of life in a civilized society had disappeared,’ he wrote. ‘There was no government authority, no police. No trains, trams or cars; no factories working, no postal service, no telephones, no newspapers, no banks. No shop was open and it would have been impossible to buy a loaf of bread, a glass of beer or an aspirin. Every bridge was blown and the available rolling stock could be seen marooned between the ruins … In the countryside the sudden departure of the foreign labourers had halted agricultural work … The only sign of life was provided by hundreds of thousands of Germans on foot, trekking in all directions.’ (6)

Somewhere among those miserable crowds on the roads might be the leading Nazi war criminals. Where should anyone start looking for them when half the population seemed to be constantly on the move? The UNWCC lists gave the last known addresses of suspects – sometimes it was that of the official residence in Berlin, now deserted; sometimes it was that of the old home, not lived in for years, thanks to the exigencies of official life and the war. The military went to the addresses they had been given – time and again all they found was a pile of rubble. They looked too in their prisoner-of-war and internment camps. Sometimes they found they already held wanted men; sometimes prisoners gave them information on likely whereabouts. Given the vast number of such camps, not just in the Four Zones of Germany but in Austria and the liberated countries, all of which were constantly receiving new inmates, checking them was time consuming and frustrating. There was too little communication between the searchers and with the authorities who might hold their prey; up-to-date intelligence circulated haphazardly if at all. Under these circumstances it is hardly surprising that the roundup of many leading Nazi war criminals took months. It is amazing that they were found at all. Tip-offs, folly and fluke were as important as skill and determination in running them to ground.

One of those who evaded capture longest was Joachim von Ribbentrop, Hitler’s Foreign Minister. He was arrested by the British on 14 June in Hamburg where he had been denounced by an acquaintance from his former days as a champagne salesman. He was discovered in bed in pink and white pyjamas. A medical examination revealed a small tin of poison taped to ‘the lower part of his body’. (7) Clearly he did not expect to have to use it for when he was escorted from his flat he was carefully carrying a letter addressed to ‘Montgommery’ and asking for an interview with ‘Mr Vincent Churchill’ (sic). No doubt he hoped to show the British Prime Minister the paper he had been working on dealing with Hitler’s purported last wishes relating to German friendship with Britain. Churchill seems to have been anxious to prevent Russian suspicion of Western collusion with the last remnants of the dying Hitler regime. He immediately forwarded a copy of the Ribbentrop paper to Stalin, adding characteristically: ‘I thought you might be interested in some of its contents, though it is extremely lengthy and dull.’ (8)

The man Ribbentrop had succeeded as Ambassador to London and as Foreign Minister, Baron Constantin Neurath, was captured by the French. The Canadians caught Arthur Seyss-Inquart, who for four days had once been the Chancellor of Austria, but more recently had been Reichsprotektor of Holland.

Fritz Sauckel, who had run the Nazi forced labour schemes and been Governor of Thuringia, was unmasked by a young Austrian improbably called Rudolf Ripper. When Edgar Snow, the American journalist, snatched a brief interview with Sauckel in an internment camp he found him at first ‘a dark little man, sullen and suspicious’. Sauckel soon became a little more relaxed and assured Snow that Hitler had understood the problems of unemployment, Jewish profiteering and the Red menace, and that Nazism had been supported by the entire nation – ‘only a few troublemakers opposed us’. He strenuously maintained that few people had been murdered by the regime, though ‘some enemies of the State had to be eliminated, of course’, and that all his foreign workers had been volunteers – they were so much better off in Germany than at home. Concentration camps? Sauckel himself had inspected them; he could promise Snow that they were models of hygiene and health. Having reviewed with some pride the achievements of the regime he had served, Sauckel suddenly broke into lachrymose bewilderment. ‘For two days now I have been kept here, and again and again I have asked myself why? Why? I swear by God that I am an innocent man who wronged no one. My only crime is that I loved Germany.’ Here Snow noted that Sauckel’s eyes filled with tears. ‘I love the German working people. Do you understand? I married a working woman, a good woman. She served me well. She gave me ten children – a good German wife.’ (9)

Others carried off arrest and detention with rather more aplomb and style than Sauckel. Franz von Papen, Reich Chancellor in 1932, who had negotiated the appointment of Hitler as Chancellor of Germany in 1933, and then served as his Deputy Chancellor before going as ambassador to Vienna at the time of the Anschluss, was run to ground by an American platoon in Westphalia. Papen had been constantly on the run since leaving his embassy in Turkey in August 1944, fearing arrest first by the Gestapo, then by the Allies. As he told the story, the Americans found him eating stew with his grandchildren in a lodge in the woods where he was living with his daughter. Papen asked them to sit and wait while he packed a few things in a rucksack. (10) A few Nazis had the forethought to pack sensibly at the moment of arrest, and they were to be grateful for it in the coming months. Many did not – according to temperament they either expected instant execution or immediate release. Changes of underwear, a spare shirt, warm woollens for the winter did not seem a major priority.

Papen’s arrest caused consternation at the Foreign Office. It raised in far more acute form than Ribbentrop’s the danger of Soviet misinterpretation of his presence behind Western lines. ‘I cannot imagine a more unwelcome prisoner,’ wrote a Foreign Office official. ‘More peace feelers have been associated with his name than almost any other prominent German.’ (11) The Foreign Office moved fast to head off any possible Allied misunderstandings. Within six days of his detention, Papen found himself at Eisenhower’s headquarters facing the senior British and American military intelligence chiefs in Europe – and two Soviet generals. He told them little of any military or political significance, but demonstrated an amazing self-confidence. ‘He was extremely well-dressed, beautiful silk suit etc., and it was clear that he had intended to fall into the hands of the Americans and had dressed up for the occasion,’ said the Foreign Office report on the meeting. He indicated his belief that he still had a role to play liaising between the Germans and the Allies. When Major General Strong, the British Head of Military Intelligence at SHAEF, asked the Foreign Office if he should seek a further, private, interview with Papen, he was put sharply in his place: ‘Such an interview must under no circumstances take place – Papen is as dangerous as a hamadryad snake – he could do us no good.’ (12) So he was moved to a chateau near Spa, where he found ‘comfortable accommodation’ and a ‘normal civilized life’ (13) chatting to old acquaintances like Admiral Horthy, the ex-Regent of Hungary.

The richest haul of prospective defendants of the Nazi regime fell to the Americans in the South. In Austria they found Dr Ernst Kaltenbrunner – with the death of Himmler and Müller, and the disappearance of Eichmann, the nearest who could be found as a Gestapo chief. Baldur von Schirach, the former Gauleiter of Vienna and leader of the Hitler Youth movement, was there too. For a long time he had been thought to be dead; indeed he heard a report of his own death on the BBC. It was assumed that either he had fallen in the last fight for Vienna or had been shot by Austrian patriots. In fact he was living in the Tyrol, posing as ‘Richard Falk the novelist’ and writing a detective story called The Secrets of Myrna Loy – it is not clear whether the title indicated an infatuation with the Hollywood filmstar. Perhaps he might have escaped detection, but on 4 June he heard on the radio about the arrests of Hitler Youth leaders and decided to give himself up and accept his responsibility for the movement. He tried writing to local American headquarters to announce his whereabouts and desire to surrender, but his letter was treated as a bad joke. Finally he came to the headquarters in Schwaz, announced in English ‘I am Schirach’, and was duly arrested. He wrote to his wife from prison: ‘I want to speak before a court of law and take the blame on myself. Through me the young have learned to believe in Hitler. I taught them to have faith in him, now I must free them from this error. Once I have had the opportunity to say this before an international court of law, then let them hang me.’ (14)

Much less co-operative was Wilhelm Frick, caught in Munich. He was the lawyer who had drawn up Hitler’s application for German citizenship, the Enabling Act which gave the Nazi Party its grip on Germany, and so much of the Anti-Jewish legislation. His pet scheme had been the euthanasia programme – the State-ordained killing of ‘useless eaters’. Up to 1943 Frick had been Minister of the Interior; he then went to Bohemia and Moravia as Protector. His interrogator sourly noted that: ‘the attempt to combine the character of an ardent Party member with that of an orthodox minister has resulted in Frick in a rather negative and defensive witness, with something of the expression of a cornered rat when he is pressed.’ (15) Frick was not to change in the coming months.

As the war ended, the Berchtesgaden area became a great magnet for leading Nazis. Here they were near their Führer’s favourite retreat, the Berghof. There may never have been a plan for a final stand in the mountain redoubt as the popular press believed, but at least they felt happy in the mountains, finding reassurance among the scenes of their former glory when in the early days of the War they had relaxed on Hitler’s terrace, eating chocolate cake, bullying foreign visitors and posing for Eva Braun’s home movies, their every wish catered for by particularly fine specimens of Aryan manhood in immaculate SS uniform.

Whatever their precise motives, Hans Frank, the lawyer and civil administrator of Poland was picked up there in the course of a routine American round-up. He handed over to his captors the diary of his administration of Poland – 11,367 typed pages of it. Then he tried to sever his arteries, cutting his throat and both wrists, but only succeeded in paralysing his left hand and arm. When Edgar Snow visited him in 193 Evac Hospital near Munich, he reported that Frank’s neck and wrists were ringed with jagged festering sores where he scratched his wounds. Frank protested that he was a man of culture, not a gangster. After all, he had opened the first Chopin museum Cracow ever had. He added that the extermination camps at Maidanek and Auschwitz were Himmler’s work not his. ‘All Poles know that I loved their country,’ he claimed to Snow. ‘They are a fine people.’ (16) It was a praise that squared oddly with a reference in his diary: ‘If we win the war then as far as I am concerned the Poles and the Ukrainians and the rest can be turned into minced meat.’

Near Berchtesgaden, the Americans also found Dr Robert Ley – in a mountain hut, shaking from top to toe and dressed in blue pyjamas, a Tyrolese hat and climbing boots. Ley’s Labour Front had replaced the independent German trades union and been a mere instrument of the Nazi party: fixing wages, hours and working conditions. He had created the ‘Strength through Joy’ movement to control the workers’ leisure activities. Ley had once told the workers: ‘The Führer is always right. Obey the Führer.’ He now offered himself to the Americans as a brilliant leader of the working classes who could help them solve all their social problems. But they were far from impressed by this quivering alcoholic. An early interrogation report noted Ley’s speech impediment which appeared when he got excited, ‘as he is apt to do when, for example, he thinks of the attempt on the Führer’s life on 20 July 1944’, and the tears when he thought of his failure to get Anglo-German understanding or the implementation of all the social reforms he had planned. (17)

In the same area an American patrol stumbled on Julius Streicher, the Jew-baiter, the editor of the anti-Semitic paper Der Stürmer, a journal so obscene and repulsive that even many devoted Nazis could not bear to read it. He was sitting painting on the verandah of a farmhouse when the patrol’s commander, Major Blitt, came to ask for a glass of milk. Streicher explained that he was not the farmer but ‘Mr Seiler, an artist’. They began to talk; Blitt wanted to know why people had joined the Nazi party. They talked in Yiddish. But Streicher could not keep up his act for long. When Blitt commented on his resemblance to Julius Streicher he blurted out: ‘How did you recognize me?’ Off went Streicher in the jeep. (18)

Rather further from Berchtesgaden, 35 miles from Salzburg, was the biggest catch of all, Hermann Goering, a man who had held innumerable posts and for a long time had been second only to Hitler in military, economic, and diplomatic matters, a man who had looted Europe for his private art collection, but who by May 1945 had been sacked by the Führer for offering to take over the leadership of the Reich. He was refused any office in the successor government by Doenitz and was under SS house arrest at Mauterndorf. Always ready with the grand gesture, Goering had sent Field Marshal Brauchitsch to Eisenhower and the local American commander asking for protection from the Gestapo and the SS. Concerned too to be suitably dressed for the occasion, Goering had ordered a new uniform in the colour of his captors rather than of the Luftwaffe. When the Americans failed to provide the required assistance and welcome, Goering drove off to surrender, graciously waving from side to side and acknowledging German soldiers trudging to their prisoner-of-war camps.

The following day came closer to measuring up to his expectations. He was given a press conference at Army headquarters at Kitzbühel, with popping champagne corks and flashing cameras. It was just what he was used to and just what he had expected. But Goering’s little pleasures proved shortlived. He was moved from Kitzbühel to Augsburg the following day, where he lived with two aides in a working-class suburb. He was under house arrest again but this time in a dingy flat with no bath and no lavatory.

Perhaps the only man with any reason to welcome arrest was Hjalmar Schacht, once President of the Reichsbank, Minister for the Economy and Plenipotentiary for the War Economy. Since being accused of complicity in the 1944 Bomb Plot against Hitler, Dr Schacht had been in prison and concentration camps; guards at the Flossenburg camp had instructions to shoot him should the Americans arrive. Instead, he was moved to Dachau, to a special enclosure for distinguished prisoners called a ‘prominenten laager’. There Schacht joined an extraordinary collection of some of the more remarkable people to fall foul of the Führer, including Pastor Martin Niemoeller, the distinguished Lutheran theologian, Fritz Thyssen, the industrialist, Leon Blum, and the former Austrian Chancellor, Kurt Schuschnigg.

Finally Schacht did indeed fall into American hands and was interned in Kransberg Castle in the Taunus Mountains. He was taken off on one occasion for interrogation – against a receipt for ‘the live body of Dr Schacht’. His interrogator recorded that Schacht ‘appeared to be in excellent health if somewhat too querulous and disconcerted for a coherent discussion’. Schacht was in fact fizzing with rage. He could not understand why a man imprisoned by the Nazis should now be held captive by their enemies; he kept telling his interrogator that he had plotted against Hitler. He was most indignant that his captors had taken his watch and that he had too few clothes. When asked if he had ever tried to inform himself about conditions and policies under the Nazis by considering Allied versions of the facts – listening to the BBC for example – he dismissed the idea with characteristic contempt: ‘The BBC dealt only in rotten propaganda – Jewish if not in diction in style, of the kind no decent German would listen to.’ (19)

Then he was sent back to Kransberg. The castle had once been renovated and decorated by Albert Speer as a Luftwaffe headquarters for Goering. Appropriately enough, the architect himself arrived in August to join Schacht and the other civilian leaders interned there. Soon after Speer learned that he was to be tried as a war criminal he was visited by George Ball, another member of the American bombing survey still anxious to pick Speer’s brains. Speer was more interested in his trial than in bombs. ‘Will you be my lawyer, Mr Ball?’ Mr Ball thought not. ‘Well, you’re making a mistake,’ chided Speer. ‘Many young lawyers have made their reputations by representing notorious personalities and you’ll never get a better chance.’ (20) But Ball still refused the offer. Having missed this chance he had to make his reputation the hard way, as a politician and diplomat.

Men like Speer and Schacht had been classified by the Allies as ‘technicians’; Kransberg was known irreverently to the jailors as ‘Dustbin’. The leading politicians, diplomats and military figures were concentrated in another camp, equally sardonically called ‘Ashcan’. ‘How these creatures must loathe each other.’ commented a Foreign Office official as he mused on the list of the inmates of ‘Ashcan’. (21)

Fifty-two eminent Nazis, from whom fifteen would eventually be chosen as defendants before the Military Tribunal, were collected between May and August in Bad Mondorf – or Mondorf-les-Bains – in Luxemburg. Mondorf stands on a plateau about six kilometres from the dramatic gorge of the Mosel and the border with Germany. A tiny stream trickles along one side of the town and marks the frontier with France. The rolling countryside can be seen from almost every part of the town – mainly vineyards, but scattered with patches of light mixed woodland. It was a convenient place to keep such prominent prisoners. It was small (in 1982 its population was only 2,000) and stood at the T-junction of two roads going nowhere in particular, so the American military would have no problem in surrounding and guarding the area and suspicious visitors would be easy to spot. The town offered reasonable housing for a garrison in substantial, comfortable, mainly late-19th-century villas or in three or four small hotels. It also provided ideal accommodation for the prisoners – the Grand Hotel. Mondorf was a spa, promising that its two thermal springs would do wonders for rheumatism or complaints of the liver. The Grand Hotel had been its leading hotel and the centre for the cure. It was rather a graceless building – shaped like a boomerang, the entrance on the north side, a broad terrace facing the sun on the south. It was six stories high, with two additional tiers of attics, and its plain stucco façade was hardly cheered by crude art deco panels. It can never have been a delightful hotel; it made a reasonably suitable prison. Access to it along the only road could easily be barricaded. The hotel’s garden and park, with some fine old trees, were overlooked by slopes on three sides which gave a clear view of any activity in the grounds, and sight of all approaches from the countryside beyond.

Before the first prisoners arrived, the US Army stripped the Grand Hotel of any of its fading splendour and comfort. Out went the furniture and carpets to be replaced with camp beds and straw mattresses. Windows too were replaced, first with wire netting, then, as soon as available, with shatterproof glass and bars. A stockade with four watchtowers went up round the garden.

None of this was good enough for ‘Ashcan’s’ new commandant, who was to figure prominently in the months of the trial itself. Colonel Burton C. Andrus was once described in a Time profile as a ‘pompous, unimaginative and thoroughly likeable officer’, ‘a plump little figure looking like an inflated pouter pigeon … impeccably garbed in his uniform and highly shellacked helmet.’ (22) In his Memoirs, Andrus leapt to defend himself against the charge which hurt most: ‘My weight was 160 lb, height 5 feet 10 inches, chest 44 inches, waist 36 inches – kept trim by fresh campaigns in combat and active water polo matches against subordinates. A plump pouter pigeon?’ (23) Colonel Andrus had been a cavalry officer in the First World War; he had spent much of the Second in England as an observer, and then moved to Europe with the US Army at the time of the invasion. His qualification for the new job seems to have been the months in 1917 he spent as a military prison officer at Fort Ogelthorpe, Georgia.

Andrus looked at the Grand Hotel, sized up his prisoners, and evidently saw the position in a flash. ‘Mondorf,’ he wrote, ‘no one had to tell me, was a powder keg.’ (24) Did nobody realize these Nazis would try to commit suicide? (Goering had arrived carrying two cyanide capsules.) The fountain in the garden had to be drained – not much harm could be self-inflicted on a sundial. Braces, shoelaces, razors, watches, all had to be removed – they could all be used for suicide, for savage attacks on fellow prisoners, as weapons in a mass break-out. And the tables in the prisoners’ rooms had to go; only tables which collapsed at a touch would do – there was no limit to what a crazed Nazi could do with a table. And this was not all. Who had stopped to think of the hordes of SS fanatics, the Werewolf suicide squads? Any minute now they could storm the perimeter fence, hail down on the hotel roof in parachutes, rescue their heroes and charge off to restore the Reich. To prevent this possibility, everything had to be floodlit, machine gun posts put at every angle, and camouflage nets draped to fool daredevil Luftwaffe pilots. Had no one heard of Skorzeny, swooping down to rescue Mussolini from internment in 1943?

And Andrus spotted another threat wantonly ignored by others – lynching. Who would not want to lynch these evil Nazis? In Luxemburg alone, 160 people had just returned from Dachau. Europe was filled with hundreds of thousands of Nazi victims itching to tear Andrus’ prisoners limb from limb. And look at those trees in the park – gifts to snipers. Even by July, Andrus could not rest secure in the formidable defences he had created: day or night he had to be ready to ‘knock our allies back with guns’ to prevent lynching.

All too soon, Andrus lost a valuable element in his security arrangements – secrecy. The authorities did not want the whereabouts of the Nazi leaders known, but rumours spread. The newspapers began to print stories about top Nazis and their ‘life of luxury and ease’. By 14 July, the Chicago Daily News had identified the location as ‘The Palace Hotel, Mondorf. For Moscow Radio a few days later, this was easily translated into ‘a Luxemburg palace’ where Nazi War leaders were ‘getting even fatter and more insolent … These notorious war criminals rest in Luxemburg after their sanguinary carnage… Nothing but the finest vintages and finest foods will do for them. Servants noiselessly bring delicious wines on silver trays … and the latest model automobiles are theirs to drive around the grounds.’ (25) Given the general Press picture, it was little comfort to Colonel Andrus that a very few newspapers had already christened him ‘The Mondorf Monster’. He had to get the record straight.

On 16 July, representatives of the world’s Press were invited to visit Mondorf. They were followed in later weeks by many more – public curiosity about the Grand Hotel’s inmates was insatiable. Andrus made the situation clear to his visitors: (26) ‘We stand for no mollycoddling here. These men are in jail. We have certain rules and these rules are obeyed.’ He scotched the rumours about luxury. The reporters were given a briefing on the prisoners’ diet: breakfast at 7.30 a.m. – cereal, soup and coffee; lunch at midday – pea soup, beef hash and spinach; supper at 6.30 p.m. – powdered eggs, potatoes and tea. All standard prisoner-of-war rations, all eaten off glazed earthenware with one spoon. And – ‘they roll their own cigarettes.’ The reporters peered at the rooms, noted the sparse furniture, were duly impressed by the stockade, the floodlights, the machine guns. The Daily Telegraph expressed some surprise that Admiral Doenitz’s cupboard contained pink underwear (27) and the New York Herald Tribune recorded with interest that Ribbentrop’s room was said to be often untidy. An American captain had complained: ‘He is often lackadaisical in this respect and I have had him on the carpet several times.’ (28) There was no such problem with Keitel. His room was always spotless, his blankets perfectly boxed, everything constantly ready for kit inspection. Andrus approved of Keitel – he would have made an excellent First Sergeant, he would obey anything his commander ordered. He was a perfect prisoner – until the day that he wrote to General Eisenhower to complain that his Field Marshal’s baton had been taken from him by the prison authorities.

As Andrus’ charges arrived at ‘Ashcan’ he worried about how to lick them into shape. So many of them were obviously unhealthy. Frank in particular was deep in melancholia and needed constant attention. According to an American doctor who examined him on arrival: ‘his left elbow and wrist were severely cut, his right wrist was cut. The wounds have practically healed now but he will have a permanently crippled left hand.’ More luridly, the New York Times confided to its readers that on his arrival Frank was wearing ‘only lace panties’. (29)

There were several doctors at hand, including Dr Pfluecker, a fellow prisoner. But they needed watching, thought Andrus. Prisoners asked for sleeping pills, then hid them and started a collection. Andrus knew what that was for. Too many of these Nazis, he thought, did not yet seem to understand that the good old days were over. Ley had told a prison officer that he could do without food and drink but he must have female company. Perhaps he could provide the authorities with some really interesting statements, if only he could dictate them to a golden haired secretary. (30) When Streicher arrived, no one wanted to sit near him; no one ever did, especially at meals. ‘I fixed that,’ Andrus told the New York Herald Tribune. ‘I told them the Wehrmacht and Navy no longer existed, that even their state no longer existed and that they would eat with anybody I choose to place at the table.’ (31)

Andrus’s biggest problem, however, was Goering. (32) The Field Marshal had arrived at the Grand Hotel suitably equipped for his stay in a spa, with sixteen monogrammed suitcases, a red hatbox, a dazzling collection of rings, watches, medals, cufflinks, and his valet, Robert Krupp. Andrus looked at the luggage; during the medical examination, he surveyed the Field Marshal. Goering without clothes was surely more awful than with them. He had red finger nails – and red toe nails. And as if that was not bad enough, Goering had brought with him 20,000 paracodeine tablets, his substitute for his morphine addiction – he took twenty every morning and twenty every evening. Andrus was not going to have an addict in his prison. He contacted the Director of the FBI, the legendary J. Edgar Hoover, who replied with instructions from the Narcotics Bureau. Goering’s dose must be cut by one tablet at a time. It was a painful process. Goering whimpered, and complained of headaches and sleeplessness. But he was weaned by 12 August. In the opinion of Dr Kelley, an American psychiatrist who worked with the prisoners at Mondorf and later in Nuremberg, Goering’s pill taking was more of a habit than an addiction by now – he munched handfuls of what were in fact specially made paracodeine tablets of a very low dosage as others might munch sweets. Prison life proved to be good for his figure too. When he came to Mondorf, he weighed 270 lb. By the end of July, he was down to 240 lb and a doctor proudly told an Associated Press reporter: ‘We had to take a six inch tuck in his pants to keep him from losing them.’ (33)

As his health improved, so did Goering’s personality. At first he was frightened, saying accusingly to the guards: ‘You are going to kill me tomorrow.’ He was so nervous that Andrus appointed Field Marshal Kesselring to look after him. Even so, one night during a thunderstorm, Goering had a heart attack. ‘I was all by myself when the storm came. It worried me.’ (34) But soon the old Goering resilience, the vitality, the magnetism came back. He began to attract a circle of prisoners around himself – dominating them, cheering them up, giving them doses of his courage and determination to fight. Not all the prisoners were attracted. The old Flensburg group clung to Doenitz and retained their dislike for flashy Hermann. As the two rival social groups coalesced, only two men were left out – no one wanted anything to do with Ley or Streicher.

Colonel Andrus had tackled his security difficulties, solved his prisoners’ health problems, and tried to impose some good order and military discipline on men used to command. Yet Andrus was never satisfied; he worried incessantly. Others, however, noticed that his regime was beginning to have an effect. When Ivone Kirkpatrick came to the Grand Hotel, he found Ribbentrop, Rosenberg, Streicher, Doenitz, Neurath, Raeder and Funk sunning themselves in basket chairs on the terrace. There was a quickening of interest as they saw a visitor. A corporal called them to attention. All stood except Doenitz, who sat huddled and sulking in his chair. ‘Get up, that man,’ roared the corporal, and Grand Admiral Doenitz shuffled to his feet. (35)

Kirkpatrick like many others came to the Grand Hotel to interview the prisoners. He was glad to leave – he compared the place to a ‘criminal lunatic asylum’. When Galbraith came he, too, was far from impressed by the inmates. He shared the reaction of a man who escorted him: ‘Who’d have thought that we were fighting this war against a bunch of jerks?’ (36) ‘Ashcan’ was not just an internment camp; it became increasingly an interrogation centre where some of the preliminary spadework for the future trial was carried out. Sixteen booths were built; interrogations were carried out in them every day, often lasting several hours at a time. The prisoners encountered the usual tricks of the trade: the harmless questions to throw them off their guard, the constant harping back to check consistency in accounts, the alternating rough and friendly approaches. Everything was taken down in shorthand. It was an experience most of them looked forward to. When some Russian interrogators appeared on 24 July, Goering shouted: ‘I won’t see them. I won’t talk to them.’ (37) But he did – for two days. Interrogations were enjoyed. They offered a chance to relish former power and conquest, to fight old battles and produce the old political arguments – perhaps more effectively than last time. Sometimes the interrogations fed a sense of superiority. When Papen was interrogated by Thomas Dodd, ultimately a prosecutor at Nuremberg, at the beginning of September he noted that Dodd was ‘polite, correct, even kind’ but ‘in the course of our discussion it became clear that he had only a very superficial knowledge of events and internal developments in Germany.’ (38) No doubt – but Dodd and the others were learning fast, thanks to interrogating the very men who had controlled events and developments. So were the prisoners. Though they might not know it, the interrogations gave them a chance to rehearse their stories and excuses for later use in the trial.

In the case of Ribbentrop, he began as he was to continue – emphasizing his own ‘lack of importance and responsibility’. Before his American and British military interrogators, Ribbentrop’s once renowned public pose of cold austerity and aloofness was replaced by a rather desperate and unconvincing jocularity and affability. What struck the interrogators was Ribbentrop’s general vagueness – genuine, they assumed, not feigned – and what they could only describe as a ‘rather obvious lack of mental fibre’. On these grounds they cautioned that Ribbentrop’s interrogation report should be treated ‘with reservation’. What was clear was that Ribbentrop was already desperately anxious about the future. As the interrogation ended, he ventured the opinion that ‘he had not thought that the war would come to such proportions that governments were placed under arrest’. When his interrogators sat in stony silence, ignoring what was in effect a plea for reassurance, they noted that ‘Ribbentrop’s expression was one of nervous consternation and his exit less assured than his entrance.’ (39)

Yet, in general, interrogations made a welcome break in what became a dull routine: talking, walking under escort, playing chess, drafts, or Monopoly. The prisoners were cut off entirely from the outside world; they had no radio, no newspapers, they received no letters. Andrus made some attempt to relieve their boredom. General Warlimont and Vice Admiral Buerkner were persuaded to give English lessons every day. Other prisoners were timetabled to give lectures three afternoons a week – Count Schwerin von Krosigk, the former Finance Minister and later Prime Minister under Doenitz, treated them to his views on Shakespeare; Funk enlightened them as to the benefits of paper currency; and Ley staggered them with his plans to reconstruct Germany using prefabricated units and private enterprise. How his views had changed! They were given occasional film shows – but only Allied films of the concentration camps.

The prisoners at Mondorf took time to adjust to their confinement, and they remained puzzled as to exactly why they were there. No one told them about the fast-maturing plans for a trial. Some of them had shared Ribbentrop’s expectation on arrest: ‘I know that we are all on the list of war criminals and I can see that in the present state of world opinion only one verdict can be expected – sentence of death.’ (40) They had expected instant execution. Others, however, could hardly believe that persons of their eminence could conceivably be tried. At his post-surrender Press conference in Kitzbühel, Goering had been surprised at the question: ‘Do you know that you are on the list of war criminals?’ ‘No,’ he replied, ‘that question surprises me very much for I cannot imagine why I should be.’ (41) By July, he was still complaining about his imprisonment: ‘I don’t understand it at all. I have lots of affairs to settle in Germany.’ (42)

Doenitz too was all injured innocence and self-importance. ‘They cannot condemn me just because I assumed power in a country where everyone wanted me to take over. The Allies will end by regretting the passing of the old regime.’ (43) Most prisoners accepted that some of their colleagues were war criminals. Papen moved from an annexe into the Grand Hotel at the beginning of August. ‘To my horror,’ he wrote, ‘I found myself in the company of Goering, Ribbentrop, Rosenberg and their satellites.’ (44)

Unknown to all of them, this was to be the company in which they were to stand trial for their part in the Third Reich. Unknown to them, the plans for the trial were – despite difficulties – drawing to fruition. Typically, it was the canny Speer who first heard of the trial and his involvement in it. Radios were not allowed in ‘Ashcan’ but were permitted in the less strict ‘Dustbin’. A fellow prisoner rushed in at six in the morning to tell Speer that he had been named as a defendant in the planned war crimes trial. Speer was shocked: ‘I had never expected to be a defendant… I was dumbfounded. In the camp there was a chemist who was said to possess several capsules of poison such as Himmler had used for his suicide. I cautiously hinted to him that I was looking for such a capsule, but he refused me in evasive language.’ (45)

His co-defendants were to know soon enough. On Sunday 12 August, Colonel Andrus rounded up fifteen of his ‘Ashcan’ charges into two ambulances. They drove under escort to Luxemburg airport, then flew in two C-47s to Nuremberg. During the flight, Goering demonstrated a vigorous brand of gallows humour, continually pointing out to Ribbentrop geographical features such as the Rhine and urging him to take a look at them as he was unlikely to have another opportunity to do so. (46) Streicher was sick.
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Chapter Four

The impetus to establish an international tribunal to try these major Nazi war criminals had come from America. It was accelerated by the outcry over the Malmedy massacre and direct experience of other atrocities once American forces invaded Europe, but it had begun and was sustained by the debate over the post-war settlement of Germany and Europe. Indeed it can almost be said that the Nuremberg Tribunal originated in an interdepartmental row in Washington over plans for the future of conquered Germany. (1)

Tentative thinking about what should ultimately be done with Germany had started in March 1943 when the American President, Franklin Roosevelt, asked his Secretary for War, Henry Stimson, and his Secretary of State, Cordell Hull, to outline their views. Both men had agreed that the Allies should insist on Germany’s unconditional surrender, full Allied military occupation, de-Nazification, disarmament, and the dismantling of war industries. Neither wished to destroy German industry as a whole – they saw a tolerable standard of living as an essential condition for a flourishing future German democracy – and the only slight difference between them was that Hull thought subsistence adequate whereas Stimson preferred to allow for something slightly more comfortable.

These suggestions were not taken up by the President. While Allied victory remained a distant prospect, he preferred to devote his time and energy to winning the War rather than considering the peace. Thereafter, once Europe was invaded, he became increasingly sensitive to the argument that this time Germany must be taught more thoroughly than in 1918 the lesson of what happened to those who started and lost wars; he also became alert to public demands for punitive action against war criminals.

In this mood Roosevelt rejected two occupation policy guides which had been drawn up by the War Department in the autumn of 1944 for the use of the military, on the grounds that they were too lenient towards the Germans. He was prepared to lend a ready ear to strongly contrasting proposals from another member of his government.

In the United States Treasury, the Secretary, Henry Morgenthau, conceived and nurtured from August 1944 a dreadful retribution to be visited on Germany. The country which had waged war on Europe, exploited its peoples and resources, committed atrocities and exterminated millions, was to be torn to shreds. Germany must suffer – and must never again be capable of causing suffering to others. Under Morgenthau’s plan, Germany must be demilitarized: the stern limitations on her armed services and armaments imposed by the Versailles Settlement in 1919 had not been enough – Germany had insisted on the right to defend herself, broken her Treaty obligations, and used her restored military might to subjugate and destroy Europe. This time demilitarization must be total and permanent. The Nazi Party had imposed a totalitarian regime on Germany, then used its country’s strength to extend its evil doctrines over Europe. The Nazi Party must be destroyed: Germany must be de-Nazified, its officials at all levels of government and administration must be removed from their posts and interned. In view of their treatment of others it seemed fitting that they should in their turn be exploited – let them now be directed to forced labour, repairing some of the damage they had caused in Europe. Above all, Morgenthau saw German industry as the source of that country’s seeming capacity for evil. German industrialists had backed Hitler, enthusiastically joined the Nazi Party in its schemes and finally and fatally provided the materiel for a second war. So German industry must be destroyed. For ever. Germany must be pastoralized: the country stripped of its industrial plant and reduced to a nation of farmers. Within this ruthless and bleak conception, where Morgenthau saw an entire nation as criminal, dealing with war criminals became a simple matter. Minor offenders could be sent back to the countries where their crimes had been committed. The names of major criminals should be issued to the Allied Forces. As the men were captured, they would be identified and shot.

The Morgenthau plan was repulsive to Henry Stimson, the Secretary for War. Stimson too wanted to achieve a permanent peace, but he did not believe, like Morgenthau, that this could be bred from vengeance and castration. Stimson saw lasting peace as the fruit of two strains: international co-operation and international legality. In principle, therefore, he could not accept a plan for the future of Europe which was based on Allied destruction of Germany – because Germany too must become a collaborator in the settlement. Neither could he accept a plan which countenanced Allied diktat and summary executions – from the beginning the new Europe must found its relations on legal processes and justice. In Stimson’s eyes, Morgenthau’s very principles were wrong. Furthermore, when it came to the details, Morgenthau’s plan was both simplistic and self-defeating. As Stimson saw it, the destruction of German industry would seriously damage the economy of the whole of Europe. This could be no basis for reconstruction; it certainly made no sense to punish the whole of Europe for the alleged sins of German industrialists. In addition, by reducing Germany to starvation, the Allies would be creating all the conditions needed for dictatorship and war to breed again; the marginally more lenient treatment of the Versailles Settlement had provided ample scabs for the warmongers to pick and infect, and Germans could not be secured as valuable contributors to the new European order if they were treated as criminals.

Stimson’s criticisms of Morgenthau’s plan for the Germans did not, however, involve any softness towards war criminals. He wanted to substitute more discriminating methods; to shift the approach from one based purely on punishment to one aimed at some degree of rehabilitation. He was unwilling to criminalize the entire German nation, but saw a therapeutic value in punishing internationally recognized war criminals: cleanse the German body politic to obtain a healthy partner for the future.

On 5 September 1944, Secretary Stimson sent a memorandum to the President and to Morgenthau: ‘It is primarily by the thorough apprehension, investigation and trial of all the Nazi leaders and instruments of the Nazi system of terrorism such as the Gestapo, with punishment delivered as promptly, swiftly and severely as possible, that we can demonstrate the abhorrence which the world has for such a system and bring home to the German people our determination to extirpate it and its fruits forever.’ Given Stimson’s views on establishing international legality, there could only be one way in which this lesson could be delivered to the Germans and in which other nations could share in the educative process. Stimson wrote to Roosevelt on 9 September: ‘… the very punishment of these men in a dignified manner consistent with the advance of civilization will have the greater effect on posterity … I am disposed to believe that, at least as to the chief Nazi officials, we should participate in an international tribunal constituted to try them.’ (2) In taking this stand, Stimson had not only revived the scheme devised by the lawyers at Versailles, he had added his voice to those who had called for international action in the St James’s Declaration.

It was apparent, then, that though the aim of Morgenthau and Stimson was the same – lasting peace – the methods they wanted to use and the principles behind their thinking were as far apart as they could be. There was little chance they could be persuaded to co-operate and reach a compromise. Stimson was seldom troubled by spasms of doubt. He regarded the voice of his conscience as the most reliable guide and on this issue he had heard it loud and clear. Morgenthau was a more flexible character and in nearly all his dealings a man of warmth and generosity. But he was prepared to dig in his heels over this issue and argue passionately for rigorous punishment for Germany. The two men had one thing in common – both had viewed aspects of German life with some dislike for many years. Stimson had hated Prussianism in the Great War and had thoroughly enjoyed fighting it for seven months in France. Morgenthau had been deeply shocked at the same time by what he saw as a tendency to resort to brutality among the German officials he met while staying at his father’s embassy in Turkey.

From then, however, their views had diverged. Stimson might have opposed the Covenant of the League of Nations in 1919, but he had been influenced strongly by the views of Elihu Root, head of the law firm he had joined as a young man, and championed instead a World Court and the increased effectiveness of international law to control relations between states. For Stimson, the defeat of Germany in 1945 seemed to offer the chance of advancing this cause. Morgenthau, on the other hand, was more influenced by memories of the 1930s when he had been appalled by what he saw as the timorousness of American policy towards Japanese militarism and European fascism. He had urged a strong line then: from the time of the Sudetenland crisis he had called for positive aid to France and Britain; after Munich he had demanded readiness for war. He felt the result of ignoring his advice had been disastrous. Soft words and conciliatory action had not secured the peace in 1939; Morgenthau was certain they would not be adequate bases for lasting peace in 1945.

As if character and beliefs were not enough to keep Stimson and Morgenthau apart, they also had conflicting ambitions for their departments. Stimson already felt that the War Department had only received halfhearted support for its policies during the War. It had played little part in military strategy; he now wanted it to play a fuller part in the strategy for peace. After all, he could argue, if part of Germany was to be run by American military authorities, then their activities were primarily the responsibility of his department. Morgenthau, however, saw American involvement in the government of Germany more as a foreign policy matter. This view did not mean he was prepared to leave it to Cordell Hull and the State Department. He had often seen aspects of foreign policy as coming within the Treasury brief and he and Hull had clashed over such overlaps for years. Before the War Morgenthau had been exasperated by what he considered Hull’s obsession with Free Trade as the cure for all the world’s problems and the State Department’s hesitant diplomacy in tackling the Nazi regime; he did not trust them to get matters right now. He was taking a risk in sticking the Treasury’s nose yet again into what would be seen as a foreign policy matter. Cordell Hull might give a mild-mannered impression, but this concealed strong personal ambition and jealousy of his prerogatives. He would not brook interference from the Treasury and had not enjoyed criticism from its Secretary and Roosevelt of his joint memorandum with Stimson on the future of Germany.

Given the similarity of their views, it was inevitable that Hull would fight with Stimson and against Morgenthau. Morgenthau, however, even if resisted by two such formidable rivals, could count on several doughty weapons: the respect and trust of the President built up over years of political co-operation since they first met in 1915, a close friendship between the Roosevelt and Morgenthau families, and the instinct he shared with the President that any policy towards Germany must be tough.

If Stimson wanted to dish the Treasury and see the triumph of his own principles over those of Morgenthau, he needed an ingenious instrument to lever the President away from a position where his political and personal inclinations tended to keep him. A possible tool to achieve this purpose might be an attractive solution to the niggling problem of what to do with the major war criminals. Quite obviously Morgenthau’s plan to dispose of them by firing squad had the instant appeals of simplicity and cheapness. Stimson’s proposal of an international tribunal would probably involve the President in lengthy and intricate diplomatic wrangling, then risk incurring public irritation at incomprehensible legal procedures and the time and trouble involved. Was it possible to package a scheme which at one and the same time would embody Stimson’s demand for legality, yet seize the imagination of the President and public?

On 9 September, Stimson sent a memorandum to his Assistant Secretary, John McCloy, which condemned Morgenthau’s plan for summary execution of Nazi leaders. He insisted that: ‘the method of dealing with these and other criminals requires careful thought and a well-defined procedure. Such procedure must embody, in my judgement, at least the rudimentary aspects of the Bill of Rights, namely notification to the accused of the charge, the right to be heard and, within reasonable limits, to call witnesses in his defence.’ (3) Obviously then, Stimson did not see a show trial as an adequate tool for eradicating the criminal elements in Germany, nor as a fit beginning for an era of international relations governed by law. He wished the Nazi leaders to be tried by an international tribunal which applied the rules and safeguards normally used in a court of law.

Having laid down the principles, Stimson left the details to be filled in by McCloy, and he speedily passed the buck down to a lowly section in the War Department, the Special Projects Branch – and to the office which up to then had spent much of its time considering how to prevent German reprisals against Allied prisoners-of-war. The head of the Branch was Colonel Murray C. Bernays, in civilian life a not very distinguished New York lawyer. Like so many Americans, Bernays had passed the War relatively insulated from the current horrors of Europe. He seems to have framed his picture of Nazi brutality mainly from the accounts of refugees who came to the States before the War. (Indeed, he learnt little later. In 1949 he could still say that most anti-Jewish atrocities had been committed before the War.)

By 15 September Bernays had produced a six-page scheme for a trial. In it he criticized Morgenthau’s proposal for military executions on the grounds that it did not accord with American views of justice. He admitted that a trial of Nazi leaders would be difficult: it would have to cope with unwieldy numbers of defendants and to reconcile the demand of the victims for punishment of their tormentors with the demand for justice. Even so, he loyally opted for the establishment of an international tribunal, and being a man of tidy mind with a penchant for order and system, he drew up a concise, logical plan by which not only all the individual defendants but also all the Nazi institutions whose policies had been denounced by the Allies could be tried at once. As if all this were not enough, in a plan covering a mere six pages Bernays stretched the concept of Nazi criminality to cover not just occupied Europe but Germany itself and extended it back in time to the very beginning of the Nazi regime.

In doing so, according to Bernays, the Nazi regime would implicitly be on trial. The defendants would be tried not just as individuals accused of specific crimes but as representatives of the organizations in the Nazi state to which they had belonged and which were allegedly criminal. As leaders and organizations were tried at the same time, evidence against an individual could be held against his organization and vice versa. Finally Bernays wove a net to hold them all and enmesh them with Nazi crimes at any period. All would be charged as criminal conspirators. The Nazi regime, its leaders and its institutions would be seen as plotting from the very beginning all the crimes of which they were now accused. They would be indicted for a series of acts which must all be seen as part of the same criminal intention – plotted for many years, begun at home and then gradually extended all over Europe to fulfil the intention to dominate, to establish Aryan supremacy, and to subject all human and physical resources to German needs.

At first glance a proposal which only covers six pages can seem simple. Indeed, the Bernays proposal had the supreme bureaucratic attraction of brevity. It had considerable virtues besides. In a few days, Bernays had met Stimson’s demand for international judicial proceeding and the avoidance of ruthless vengeance. He had also formulated a plan which would obviously appeal to politicians and public opinion. A single trial with leaders and organizations lumped together could be comparatively quick and cheap. It would make a dramatic impact, exposing graphically to the German people the criminal nature of the Nazi regime and demonstrating that the Allies meant to put into effect their declared war aims on punishment and justice. Out of the jumble of abhorrent acts, evil men and the complexities of law incomprehensible to the layman, Bernays had composed a single theme to explain it all and capture the imagination – one huge criminal plot carried out by a group of criminal conspirators. And more than this – after the trial was over, what a contribution the plan could make to the speedy de-Nazification of Germany; how quickly lesser officials and military men could be rounded up and tried. Thanks to the evidence against the Nazi organizations on which the Tribunal would be asked to make declarations of criminality, the subsequent proceedings would not get bogged down in defence claims that their defendants were innocent cogs in the State machine or patriots performing a duty to their country. Once these declarations were on record, later courts would know that the accused were members of criminal organizations; the defence would be limited to trying to show that their clients had not committed criminal acts or to finding mitigating circumstances. The plan was gratifyingly coherent and seductively comprehensive. So much so that many of its elements were to shape the Nuremberg Tribunal – for good and bad.

Whatever its immediate attractions, however, Bernays’ plan showed all the signs of having been written in a few weeks to a departmental brief, and by a not very distinguished lawyer. It hinged on the idea of conspiracy. Conspiracy is a fairly familiar charge in American and British law. It is a useful one to bring against a gang leader who does not himself blow the safe, kill the bank guard or drive the getaway car; who cannot therefore be charged with the actual crimes, but who has played the vital part in planning them and in hiring and directing those who committed them. The charge of conspiracy had been much used in the United States; it is a catchall which was often the only effective way of dealing with large-scale, organized crime. Even so, conspiracy is always difficult to define and the charge can cause problems in court. Judges have to decide exactly what makes a man a conspirator – planning a crime but not actually carrying it out? Being a plotter at an early stage but leaving the conspiracy before the crimes are committed? Implied in the conspiracy charge can be the idea that all members of a gang share guilt for all its acts. In Anglo-American law, defendants can be accused of conspiracy to commit all its acts whatever their length of stay in a gang and regardless of whether they even met most of its members. These are concepts found dangerous by many judges and ludicrous by many juries. If such a wide definition of the charge could be difficult to prove in cases involving relatively small numbers, how much more difficult it would be to pin it on an entire regime whose acts were allegedly criminal for twelve years. Bernays had recommended a wide definition of conspiracy when experience showed that many judges tended to narrow it: and to endeavour to impose limits of time during which they would accept that the conspiracy was active and to look for incontrovertible evidence to prove criminal purpose and criminal action on the part of individual defendants.

Worse still, the charge of conspiracy is viewed with even greater suspicion on the Continent, even though there it is not as widely defined as in Anglo-American law. Yet Bernays was suggesting that the charge be heard by an international tribunal, in which Continental judges would expect charges of criminal acts rather than of criminal intentions. Furthermore, he was recommending trying German defendants on a charge relatively unfamiliar in German law and unknown in international law. Even more disturbing, the potential defendants had received no prior warning that the charge would be brought against them. Most of the charges relating to war crimes were already well-established in international law (any German murdering a prisoner-of-war, for example, knew that he was committing a war crime). There had been plenty of warnings from the Allies that men committing these categories of crime would be punished. But there had been no specific warnings that men would be accused and punished for conspiring to commit them. All legal systems condemn the idea of ex post facto law – law which retrospectively makes criminal acts which were not illegal at the time they were committed. It is a fundamental principle of justice that a man can only be accused of committing a crime if he knew in advance, or should have known, that his acts would be crimes.

Bernays was on equally weak legal ground in extending the conspiracy charge to include the pre-war period in his anxiety to cover such policies as the persecution of German Jews, the Trades Unions, the Christian Churches, the establishment of concentration camps and the euthanasia programme. Before the War, most of these allegedly criminal acts had been committed by the sovereign German state against its own German nationals. International law recognized the right of a nation to try foreigners who committed crimes in war against its subjects; it accepted that once Germany had surrendered unconditionally, the occupying Powers were sovereign and could establish tribunals to try German nationals for war crimes against others. But there was no precedent in international law for other nations to try defendants on charges relating to domestic acts by a sovereign state. International law dealt only with the relations between nations and the acts committed by one nation against another.

Similarly without precedent not just in international but in every national legal system was Bernays’ idea of trying organizations as well as individual defendants. It carried with it a dangerous possibility – that mere membership of a group might automatically make a man criminal; that there was no need to show the nature of his membership (whether it was voluntary, active, and based on full information about all the aims and activities of the group). Like conspiracy at its widest definition, the idea of asking a court to declare whole organizations criminal could be seen as creating a ‘catch-all’ charge. This, unless severely limited by the most scrupulous safeguards, can easily become an instrument of injustice.

To be fair to Bernays, he had done his best to cobble together some working suggestions. It was now up to better lawyers to turn them into something more viable and in conformity with accepted legal principles and procedures.

Better lawyers abounded in the US War Department, the Judge Advocate General’s office, the Legal Division of the State Department and in the Justice Department. From the second half of September they began to sink their teeth into Bernays’ plan. Not surprisingly the Justice Department, though in favour of a trial in principle, was extremely critical of what was seen as Bernays’ sloppy thinking. On 29 December, Assistant Attorney General Herbert Wechsler, in a memorandum to his superior Francis Biddle, urged dropping the charges concerned with pre-war acts and acts against German nationals on the grounds that they were ex post facto. He objected to the idea of trying organizations since it was without precedent and involved too great a risk of injustice. He considered the charge of conspiracy to be purely Anglo-American and therefore inapplicable in an international court, and against German defendants.* Biddle was in full agreement. So were many others – not just in America, but even more so later when the trial was under discussion in Europe and the charge came under heavy criticism from Continental lawyers. Even so, though the Bernays plan drew heavy fire from all sides, though much of it was damaged and even wiped out, the essentials were to remain. Their seductions were irresistible.

Yet personal experience as much as legal judgement shaped reactions. Biddle may have viewed the conspiracy charge with a particularly jaundiced air since as Attorney General he had an uncomfortable recent failure with it in court when prosecuting Nazi sympathizers. Conversely, Stimson could associate the charge with success – in the 1920s he had effectively prosecuted big business in trust-busting cases by alleging conspiracy. In fact his immediate reaction to Bernays’ suggestion of the charge was to tell lawyers in the War Department that ‘in many ways the task which we have to cope with now in the development of the Nazi scheme of terrorism is much like the development of business’ in the United States. (4) Others, with slightly different legal experience might have substituted for ‘business’ ‘organized crime’ – the conspiracy charge had been equally damaging against big gangs.

At least the conspiracy charge had often been used by American lawyers. Stimson now threw into their discussions an idea totally unfamiliar which was viewed by many with deep distaste. During the War, several of the leaders of the smaller Allied states had revived the possibility once discussed by the legal committee at Versailles that launching aggressive war was in itself a crime. They suggested that one day Nazi leaders should be punished for it. Stimson had found this proposal most attractive at the time; it would now fit neatly into Bernays’ wide concept of a trial. If this element were added, it could be argued that the war crimes and crimes against humanity with which the Nazi leaders were charged had inevitably and intentionally resulted from the aim and act of waging war to dominate Europe. To obtain that domination the conspirators had committed all their crimes – those against German nationals to strengthen their grip on Germany, the war crimes to ensure victory, the crimes against humanity to terrorize and enslave captured populations. The central crime, to and from which all the others flowed, was war.

The intellectual neatness of this idea and its acceptability to several nations might in themselves have been enough to win Stimson’s support. But there was an even deeper appeal. As a constant and vocal proponent of the development of international law, Stimson had hailed as a crucial step the signing by sixty-three nations (including Germany) of the Pact of Paris (or the Kellogg-Briand Pact) in 1928. The signatories of that Pact had renounced war as an instrument of national policy for the solution of disputes. Some people regarded this as little more than yet another expression of pious hope. They pointed to the considerable number of similar agreements since the end of the First World War, to the constant vows not to resort to violence, then to the constant failure of the nations to make them binding. Stimson, and others, however, believed that the Pact was not mere aspiration but the expression of a legal commitment on the part of its signatories. Previous international agreements, starting with the Covenant of the League of Nations, had expressed the nations’ belief that aggressive war should be seen as a crime; this Pact had made it so. Stimson had acted on his belief. Convinced that Germany was an aggressor, he justified escalating action against her while America remained neutral: economic pressure, embargo, naval threat. As he told a congressional hearing in 1941, he interpreted the Kellogg-Briand Pact as having changed international law so as to free nonbelligerents from any obligation to withhold aid when given against an aggressor.
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“Fascinating . . . The Tusas’ book is one of the best accounts I have read.”
—William L. Shirer, The New York Times Book Review
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